00/1/84

#### RESTRICTED COLLECTION

SYSTEMS OF IMPRIMITIVITY FOR ERGODIC
ACTIONS OF LOCALLY COMPACT ABELIAN GROUPS



By

JOSEPH MATHEW



# RESTRICTED COLLECTION

A thesis submitted to the Indian Statistical Institute in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

CALCUTTA

1975

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank the Indian Statistical Institute for the facilities granted to me for doing this work.

It is a pleasure to acknowledge my indebtedness to Professor Mahendra G. Madkarni for his encouragement and active interest in the work presented in this thesis.

I thank Somesh C. Bagchi or his permission to include our joint results in this thesis.

I thank all my teachers and colleagues of the Statistics and Mathematics Division of the Indian Statistical Institute, for their willingness to help me in various ways, during the course of my work leading to this thesis.

Joseph Mathew



# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1 -	7
CHAPTER I: COCYCLES AND SYSTEMS OF		
IMPRIMITIVITY.	8 ~	32
1. Basic Function Spaces	8	
2. Borel G-spaces	9	
3. Borel sections.	12	
4. Unitary operator valued cocycles	18	
5. Systems of imprimitivity	22	
6. Another definition of a $(G,X,\underline{U}(H))$		
cocycle	25	
CHAPTER II: COCYCLES ON A FLOW BUILT		
UNDER A FUNCTION 3	3 -	58
1. Flow built under a function	33	
2. Cocycles on a flow built under a	. 13	
function	37	
3. Ambrose-Kakutani Theorem	44	4
4. Flows built under a constant function	46	
5. Strict versions of cocycles	54	

# CHAPTER III: SYSTEMS OF IMPRIMITIVITY ON LOCALLY COMPACT ABELIAN GROUPS

WITH DENSE ACTIONS	59 - 97
1. Pairs of groups  2. The pairs $(\lceil / \lceil , \rceil^R / \rceil)$ and $(\lceil , \rceil^R)$ 3. The pairs dual to $(\lceil , \rceil^R / \rceil)$ and $(\lceil , \rceil^R)$	59 62 「,R)69
4. The Main Theorem	77
5. The Bohr groups	89
6. An Example	94
PPENDIX	97 - 101

REFERENCES

#### INTRODUCTION

Mackey's theorem on induced representation gives all the systems of imprimitivity for a locally compact second countable group G, acting in a separable Hilbert space and based on a transitive G-space X. These systems of imprimitivity are obtained from the unitary representations of the closed subgroup H of G defining the transitive G-space X. The main tool for this study is a class of functions called cocycles. Mackey showed that the (G , X) systems of imprimitivity are connected in a one-one way to unitary operator valued cocycles on GXX. This cocycle in turn gives a representation of the closed subgroup H, defining X. Systems of imprimitivity on non-transitive actions are not as well studied.  $^{
m I}$ n this thesis we study the systems of imprimitivity on some important cases of essentially non-transitive actions, and connect them to systems of imprimitivity on simpler spaces.

Using the notion of cocycles, Gamelin [7] showed that the systems of imprimitivity on the pair (R, B) where R is the real line and B is the Bohr group are related in a one-one way to systems of imprimi-

tivity on the pair (N , K) where N is the integer group and K is the annihilator of a cyclic subgroup of the dual group B of B. More precisely, he showed that every (N, K) cocycle extends to an (IR, B) cocycle and in the cohomology (an equivalence relation defined in the set of all cocycles) class of every (  $\mathbb{R}$  ,  $\mathbb{B}$ ) cocycle, there is a cocycle which is extended from an (N , K) cocycle. Gamelin proved the above result for scalar valued cocycles and it was extended to the vector valued case by Muhly [20] and Bagchi [3]. The method Gamelin used is that of a flow built under a function. He views the action of IR on B as a flow built under the constant function 1 with base space K. In chapter II of this thesis we show that Gamelin's method of extending cocycles can be used for a general flow built under a function.

To study the systems of imprimitivity on strictly ergodic actions, Mackey [19] introduced the notion of virtual subgroups. He showed, among other things, that using this notion one can generalize the notion of a flow built under a function. We show that Gamelin's method of extending cocycles is applicable to a

generalized flow built under a constant function. The action of a locally compact second countable abelian subgroup H acting continuously on a locally compact second countable abelian group G by translation, can be viewed as a generalized flow built under a constant function. In chapter III we consider in detail, this particular case of group actions. The situation is similar to that of the pair (IR, B).

This thesis is divided into three chapters. The first chapter is mainly introductory. We introduce the notion of a unitary operator valued cocycle and a system of imprimitivity. The definitions and results are taken from Varadarajan [24]. Strict cocycles are easier to handle and we mention some cases where we need to consider only strict cocycles. We show that we can take a unitary operator valued cocycle to satisfy a much stringent condition. This is obtained by generalizing a method of Doob's in obtaining a measurable stochastic process from a 'continuous in probability' stochastic process. This definition of a cocycle is needed for chapters II and III.

In chapter II we consider flows built under a function. We show that cocycles on the base space give rise to cocycles on the flow built under a function. Every strict cocycle on the flow built under a function is cohomologous to a cocycle extended from a cocycle on the base space. A proof of Gamelin's is modified to show that every cocycle on a flow built under a function has a strict vertion. Now appealing to a generalization due to S. G. Dani [5] of a deep theorem of Ambrose and Kakutani [2], we are able to show that every cocycle on a proper flow on a Lebesgue space has a strict version. Then we show that in most of the cases appearing in chapter III (our main chapter) can be taken to be strict. We also mention how the results go through for Mackey's generalization of a flow built under a function.

In chapter III we consider the main problem.

Let R be a locally compact second countable abelian group and a dense subgroup of R with another locally compact second countable topology such that the inclusion map of into R is continuous. Such systems we call a 'pair', and denote it by ( , R). Let be a

closed subgroup of R such that \( \subseteq \s is closed in T as well. It is easy to see that  $(\lceil / \rceil, R \rceil)$  is also a pair. Let  $B = \widehat{\Gamma}$  and  $S = \widehat{R}$ , and let K be the annihilator of  $\lceil \circ \rceil$  in B. Then we can show that (S, B) is also a pair. (S, B) is called the dual pair of ( $\Gamma$ , R). The dual pair of ( $\Gamma$ , R/ $\Gamma$ will be (KAS, K). Given a system of imprimitivity on a pair, we get a system of imprimitivity on the dual pair by applying Stone's theorem. Let (V, E) be a (K $\cap$ S, K) system of imprimitivity. We show that (V, E) gives rise, in a natural fashion, to an (S, B) system of imprimitivity  $(\overline{V}, \overline{E})$ . Let (U, F) be the ( , R/ ) system of imprimitivity which is the dual of  $(V, E)^{\circ}$  and let  $(\overline{U}, \overline{F})$  be the  $(\Gamma, R)$  system dual to  $(\overline{V}, \overline{E})$ . We show that every  $(\lceil / \rceil, R \rceil)$  system of imprimitivity (U, F) gives rise to a  $(\lceil / \rceil, R)$ system  $(\widetilde{U}, \widetilde{F})$ . Thus on  $(\lceil, R]$  we have two systems of imprimitivity  $(\overline{U}, \overline{F})$  and  $(\overline{U}, \overline{F})$  starting from the same (K $\cap$ S, K) system (V, E). Under a mild assumption which is satisfied in many cases, and probably in all cases, we show that  $(\overline{\mathbb{U}}$  ,  $\overline{\mathbb{F}})$  and  $(\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}$  ,  $\widetilde{\mathbb{F}})$  are equivalent systems of imprimitivity. That is, we show that the

following diagram commutes.

$$(K \cap S, K) \qquad (S, B)$$

$$(V, E) \longrightarrow (\overline{V}, \overline{E})$$

$$(U, F) \longrightarrow (\overline{U}, F)$$

$$(V, F) \longrightarrow (\overline{V}, F)$$

$$(V, F) \longrightarrow (\overline{V}, R).$$

When R=R, the additive group of real numbers, and is a countable dense subgroup of R, the assumption is satisfied. But we give a slightly different method so that the function which establishes the equivalence of  $(\overline{U}, \overline{F})$  and  $(\overline{U}, \overline{F})$  is a simple one.

Systems of imprimitivity for the real line IR acting through translation on a compact group with Archemedean ordered dual were encountered by Helson and Lowdenslager [14] in their study of H<sup>2</sup> on Bohr group. In it they constructed a cocycle which is not a coboundary. Some of the subsequent papers are due to Helson [10], Helson and Kahane [13], Yale [25], Gámelin [7]. In all

these, the authors work on the pair (R.B) where is a discrete, dense subgroup of R and consider only scalar cocycles. In [7, 13, 14, 25] different methods of constructing non-tirvial scalar (IR, B) cocycles are given whereas in [10, 11] deep analysis is made of the analytic structure of (R, B) cocycles. A connected account of these is given in Helson [12]. In this Helson considers cocycles on a flow also. Muhly [20] and later Bagchi [3] generalized some results due to Helson [10] using (R, B) systems of imprimitivity. The present work is at a more general level; it considers different pairs of groups, and ties up a general (R , B) system of imprimitivity with others which naturally arise from it.

Systems of imprimitivity in general set up was undertaken by G. W. Mackey in connection with the theory of group representations. A connected account of these is given in Varadarajan [24]. For all unexplained terminology we refer to Varadarajan [24].

#### CHAPTER T

# COCYCLES AND SYSTEMS OF IMPRIMITIVITY

## 1. Basic Function Spaces:

X be a standard Borel space and IH a separable complex Hilbert space. A function F:  $X \longrightarrow H$  is said to be (weakly) measurable if for every  $\eta \in \mathbb{H}$ ,  $x \longrightarrow \langle F(x), \eta \rangle$  is measurable. (<.,, is the inner product in  $\mathbb{H}$ ). Let  $\mathbb{H}_1$  and  $\mathbb{H}_2$ be separable complex Hilbert spaces. A function A on X taking values in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{H}_1,\mathbb{H}_2)$ , the set of all bounded linear operators from  $\mathbb{H}_1$  to  $\mathbb{H}_2$  , is said to be (weakly) measurable if for any  $\xi \in \mathbb{H}_1$  and  $\eta \in \mathbb{H}_2$ ,  $x \longrightarrow \langle A(x) \xi_{x}, n \rangle$ 

$$x \longrightarrow \langle A(x) \mathcal{E}_{x}, \eta \rangle$$

is measurable.

Let X be a standard Borel space and  $\alpha$  , a  $\sigma$  - finite measure on X and let H be a separable (complex) Hilbert space. By  $L^2(X, \mathbb{H}, \alpha)$  we shall mean the set of all measurable functions (after identifying functions which agree  $\alpha$  a. e.) F on X to IH such that

$$\int \|F(x)\|^2 \alpha(dx) < \infty$$
.

Equipped with the inner product,

$$(F_1, F_2) = \int_X \langle F_1(x), F_2(x) \rangle \alpha(dx)$$

 $L^2(X, H, \alpha)$  becomes a separable Hilbert space. Let  $\alpha'$  be another  $\sigma$  - finite measure on X equivalent (in the sense of having the same null sets) to  $\alpha$ . Let f be a version of  $\frac{d\alpha}{d\alpha}$ . Then,

$$W: F \longrightarrow \frac{1}{\sqrt{f}} F$$

is an isometric isomorphism of  $L^2(X, \mathbb{H}, \alpha)$  onto  $L^2(X, \mathbb{H}, \alpha')$ .

## 2. Borel G - spaces.

Let G be a separable Borel group. A standard Borel space X is said to be a G - space if for each g  $\epsilon$  G, there is a Borel automorphism  $t_g$  of X such that,

- (i) te is the identity automorphism, where e is the identity element of G.
- (ii)  $t_{g_1g_2} = t_{g_1} \circ t_{g_2}$  for all  $g_1$ ,  $g_2 \in G$ .

We denote the value of tg at x by gx. X is said to

be a Borel G - space if the map  $(g.x) \longrightarrow gx$  of  $G \times X \longrightarrow X$  is measurable.

For any Borel G - space X and any  $x \in X$ ,  $G_X = \{g \in G : gx = x\}$ 

is a subgroup of G and is called the stability subgroup at x. The set,

$$Gx = \{gx : g \in G\}$$

is called the <u>orbit</u> of x. A Borel G - space X is said to be <u>transitive</u> if there is  $x \in X$  such that Gx = X. In this case, for all  $y \in X$ , Gy = X.

Let X be a standard Borel G - space and  $\alpha$ , a  $\sigma$ -finite measure on X. For each g  $\epsilon$  G, define the measure  $\alpha_g$  on X by:

 $\alpha_g(E) = \alpha(gE) \;,\; E \; a \; Borel \; subset \; of \; X.$   $\alpha$  is said to be quasi-invariant with respect to the action of G if, for each g  $\epsilon$  G,  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha_g$  are mutually absolutely continuous.  $\alpha$  is said to be invariant if  $\alpha_g = \alpha$  for all g  $\epsilon$  G. A quasi-invariant measure  $\alpha$  on X is said to be ergodic if for each Borel subset E of X,  $\alpha(E\Delta gE) = 0$  for each g  $\epsilon$  G, if and only if

 $\alpha(E) = 0$  or  $\alpha(E^C) = 0$ . Equivalently, any Borel function f on X such that

f(x) = f(gx)  $\alpha$  a. e., for each  $g \in G$ , is a constant  $\alpha$  a.e. A quasi-invariant measure  $\alpha$  on X is said to be <u>essentially transitive</u> if there is  $x_0 \in X$  such that  $\alpha(X - Gx_0) = 0$ . An essentially transitive measure on X is ergodic. An ergodic measure which is not essentially transitive is said to be strictly ergodic.

Notation: For simplicity we shall write an ergodic (essentially transitive etc.) G - space X to mean a standard G - space X with a quasi-invariant measure  $\alpha$  on it which is ergodic (essentially transitive etc.) with respect to the action of G.

Example: Let G be a locally compact second countable group and H a closed subgroup of G. Then G/H is, under the natural action of G on G/H, a transitive G-space. Conversely, any transitive G-space X (where G is a locally compact second countable group) is isomorphic to the G-space G/H for some closed subgroup



H of G. Because of this simple nature of transitive G-spaces, cohomology classes of cocycles for them can be completely described. This in turn permits one to systematically study and apply systems of imprimitivity associated with transitive G-spaces. Situation with strictly ergodic actions is more complicated. (See for example pages 35 - 39 of [24]). Mackey [19] introduced the notion of virtual subgroups of groups to study strictly ergodic actions. We do not use this notion in this thesis, although some of the other notions such as that of a flow built under a function discussed in [19] play an important role in this work.

### 3. Borel sections:

Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact second countable group G. Then there is a Borel subset C of G which contains exactly one element from each right coset of H. We call such a Borel subset C of G, a Borel section of G with respect to H. Each element g & G can uniquely be written as g = hc where h & H and c & C. We shall denote by [g] the part of g which belongs to H and by <g> the part of g which is in C. There is a one-one correspondence

between C and  $^{G}/_{H}$ , the right coset space of H, viz. c  $\longrightarrow$  Hc. In fact, this is a Borel isomorphism between the two. Again, g  $\longrightarrow$  ( $\langle g \rangle$ , [g]) is a Borel isomorphism between G and C $\times$ H.

Let  $g_1$ ,  $g_2$ ,  $g_3 \in G$ . Then,

(3.1) 
$$[g_1g_2g_3] = [g_1g_2][\langle g_1g_2\rangle g_3].$$

For, 
$$g_1g_2g_3 = [g_1g_2] \langle g_1g_2 \rangle g_3$$

= 
$$[g_1g_2][\langle g_1g_2\rangle g_3]\langle\langle g_1g_2\rangle g_3\rangle$$

Now, let G be an abelian group. Then  $^{G}/_{H}$  also is a group. The isomorphism c  $\longrightarrow$  Hc makes C also a group, the group operation in C being the one carried over from  $^{G}/_{H}$ . It is easy to see that the group operation  $\div$  thus defined in C is:

(3.2) 
$$c_1 + c_2 = \langle c_1 + c_2 \rangle$$
,  $c_1, c_2 \in C$ .

We will use the above two relations quite often in the sequel.

Let G be a locally compact second countable group and let H be a closed subgroup of G. Let C

be a Borel section of G with respect to H. Let  $\lambda_0$  be the Haar measure on H and let the Borel isomorphism between  $C \times H$  and G be denoted by  $\mathcal{E}$ :

(3.3) 
$$\xi(c,h) = hc$$
.

If  $\mu$  is any  $\sigma$ -finite measure on C, then

$$\widetilde{\mu} = (\mu \times \lambda_0) \circ \xi^{-1}$$

of H. The following lemma says that any  $\sigma$ -finite measure on G quasi-invariant with respect to translation by elements of H is equivalent to a measure of the above type.

3.1. Lemma. Let G be a locally compact second countable group and H a closed subgroup of G. Let  $\nu$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure on G, quasi-invariant with respect to translation by elements of H. Let C be a Borel section of G with respect to H and  $\xi$  the Borel isomorphism between CXH

is quasi-invariant with respect to translation by elements

<u>Proof:</u> We can assume, without loss of generality, that the identity e of G belongs to C.

and G defined by (3.3). Then  $oldsymbol{
u}$  is equivalent to  $\stackrel{oldsymbol{
u}}{\mu}$ 

(as defined by (3.4)) for some measure  $\mu$  on C.

We assume  $\nu(G)<\infty$  . Consider the measure  $\sigma=\nu\circ\xi$  on CXH. Let  $\nu_1$  and  $\nu_2$  be the marginals

of  $\sigma$  on C and H respectively.  $\nu_2$  is quasi-invariant with respect to translation by elements of H. Therefore,  $\nu_2$  is equivalent to the Haar measure on H. Hence, it is enough to show that  $\sigma$  is equivalent to  $\nu_1 \times \nu_2$ .

Let  $\sigma(A) = 0$ ,  $A \subseteq C \times H$ , a Borel set.

Therefore,  $\sigma(A+(e,h)) = 0$ , for all  $h \in H$ .

So, 
$$\int \sigma(A+(e,h)) d\nu_2(h) = 0$$
.

i.e., 
$$\int_{H} \int_{CXH} I_{A+(e,h)}(c,h') d\sigma(c,h') d\nu_{2}(h) = 0$$

By Fubini's theorem,

$$\int (\int I_{A}(c,h'-h) d\nu_{2}(h)) d\sigma(c,h') = 0.$$
C×H H

So, for 
$$\sigma$$
 a.e.  $(c,h')$ ,  $I_{A}(c,h'-h)d\nu_{2}(h) = 0$ .

Hence, for 
$$\sigma$$
 a.e.  $(c,h')$ ,  $\int_A I_A(c,h) d\nu_2(h) = 0$ .

Therefore, for 
$$\nu_1$$
 a.e.  $c \in C$ ,  $\int_{H} I_A(c,h) d\nu_2(h) = 0$ .

i.e., 
$$(\nu_1 \times \nu_2)(A) = 0$$
.

Conversely, if  $(\nu_1 \times \nu_2)(A) = 0$ , then for  $\nu_1$  a.e.  $c \in C$ ,

$$I_{A}(c,h) d\nu_{2}(h) = 0.$$

Therefore, for  $\sigma$  a.e. (c,h'),  $I_A(c,h'-h)$   $d\nu_2(h) = 0$ .

Or, 
$$\int_{C \times H} \int_{H} I_{A}(c,h-h) d\nu_{2}(h) d\sigma(c,h') = 0$$

Using Fubini's thoorem, we get,

$$I_{A}(c,h'-h) d\sigma(c,h') ) d\nu_{2}(h) = 0.$$

So, there exists h ε H such that,

$$I_{A}(c,h'-h_{o})d\sigma(c,h') = 0.$$
CXH

i. e., 
$$\sigma(A+(e,h_0)) = 0$$
. Hence,  $\sigma(A) = 0$ .

Q. E. D.

The next lemma will be used in chapter II.

3.2. Lemma: Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact second countable abelian group G. Let  $\mu$  be a measure on a Borel section C of G with respect to H. Let  $\widetilde{\mu}$  be defined as in (3.4). Let f be a Borel function on G such that

 $f(h+x) = f(x) \qquad \lambda_0 \times \widetilde{\mu} \text{ a.e. } (h,x) \in H \times G.$  Then there exists a Borel function  $\widetilde{f}$  on  $G_H$  such that

$$f(x) = f \circ \pi(x)$$
  $\mu$  a.e.  $x \in G$ ,

where  $\pi: G \longrightarrow {}^G\!\!/_H$  is the natural homomorphism.

Proof: We have,

$$f(h+x) = f(x)$$
  $\lambda_0 \times \widetilde{\mu}$  a.e.  $(h,x) \in H \times G$ .

That is, for  $\lambda_0$  a.e. h  $\epsilon$  H,

$$f \circ \xi(c,h+h') = f \circ \xi(c,h') \quad \mu \times \lambda_0 \quad a.e. \ (c,h').$$

Therefore,

$$f \circ \xi(c,h+h') = f \circ \xi(c,h') \quad (\mu \times \lambda_0 \times \lambda_0) \text{ a.e. } (c,h,h').$$

Hence, by Fubini's theorem, there exists  $h_0 \in H$  such that,

$$f \circ \xi(c, h+h_o) = f \circ \xi(c, h_o) \quad (\mu \times \lambda_o) \text{ a.e. } (c, h).$$

Since  $\lambda_0$  is the Haar measure on H, this means that

(3.5) 
$$f \circ \xi(c,h) = f \circ \xi(c,h_0) (\mu \times \lambda_0)$$
 a.e. (c,h).

Define  $\hat{f}$  on  $G_H$  by:

$$f(Hc) = f \circ \xi(c,h_0)$$
,  $c \in C$ .

 $\tilde{f}$  is a Borel function on G/H and from (3.5) we have,

$$f(x) = f \circ \pi(x)$$
  $\mu$  a.e.  $x \in G$ .

Q. E. D.

# 4. Unitary operator valued cocycles.

Let  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\underline{H})$  stand for the group of unitary operators of a separable (complex) Hilbert space  $\underline{H}$ . Give  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\underline{H})$  the smallest topology which makes all the maps  $\underline{U} \longrightarrow \underline{U}\eta$ ,  $\eta \in \underline{H}$ , continuous. Then  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\underline{H})$  is a metrizable topological group satisfying the second axiom of countability, and the Borel structure on  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\underline{H})$  given by this topology is standard. Also the Borel structure on  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\underline{H})$  given by this topology **c**oincides with the smallest Borel structure on  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\underline{H})$  which makes all the maps

 $U \longrightarrow \langle U\xi, \eta \rangle$ ,  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{H}$ , measurable.

Let G be a locally compact second countable group;  $\lambda$  the Haar measure on G. Let X be a standard Borel G-space and  $\alpha$  a finite quasi-invariant measure on X. By a (G,X, $\underline{U}(\mathbb{H})$ ) cocycle relative to  $\alpha$  we shall mean a Borel function A:  $G \times X \longrightarrow \underline{U}(\mathbb{H})$  such that,

(4.1) 
$$A(g_1g_2, x) = A(g_1, x) A(g_2, g_1x)$$

for  $(\lambda \times \lambda \times \alpha)$  a.e.  $(g_1, g_2, x) \in G \times G \times X$ .

Two cocycles are identified if they agree  $\chi \times \alpha$  a.e.

DF compression, OCR, web optimization using a watermarked evaluation copy of CVISION PDFCompress

Two  $(G, X, \underline{U}(H))$  cocycles  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  (relative to  $\alpha$ ) are said to be <u>cohomologous</u> if there exists a Borel function  $\alpha : X \longrightarrow \underline{U}(H)$  such that

(4.2) 
$$A_1(g,x) = Q(x) A_2(g,x) P(gx) (\lambda \times \alpha) \text{ a.e.}(g,x).$$

When we want to emphasize the function  $\rho$ , we say that  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are cohomologous ( $\rho$ ). It is easy to see that the relation " $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are cohomologous" is an equivalence relation. The equivalence classes are called cohomology classes. A cocycle A is said to be a coboundary if A is cohomologous to the cocycle which is everywhere equal to I, the identity in  $\underline{\underline{U}}(H)$ . Equivalently, A is a coboundary if there exists a Borel function  $\rho: X \longrightarrow \underline{\underline{U}}(H)$  such that,

(4.3) 
$$A(g,x) = \rho(x)\rho^*(gx) \qquad (\lambda \times \alpha) \text{ a.e. } (g,x).$$

We give two instances where all cocycles are coboundaries.

4.1. Lemma: Let  $G_0$  and G be locally compact second countable groups, and  $G_0$  an algebraic subgroup of G. Let the inclusion map of  $G_0$  into G be continuous.  $G_0$  acts on G by translation. If  $\alpha$  is a measure on G, quasiinvariant with respect to  $G_0$  such that  $G_0$  has full measure in G, then every  $G_0$ , G cocycle relative to G is a coboundary.

<u>Proof:</u> Let A be a  $(G_0, G)$  cocycle relative to  $\alpha$ .  $G_0$  is a Borel subset of G. Let  $A_0$  be the restriction of A to  $G_0 \times G_0$ . The measure  $\alpha$  restricted to  $G_0$  is equivalent to the Haar measure  $\lambda$  on  $G_0$ . Hence,  $A_0$  is a  $(G_0, G_0)$  cocycle relative to  $\lambda$  and so  $A_0$  is a coboundary. Let  $G_0$  be the Borel function on  $G_0$  such that,

 $A_{o}(g,x) = {}^{o}_{o}(x) {}^{o}_{o}(gx) \quad \lambda \times \lambda \quad \text{a.e. } (g,x) \epsilon G_{o} \times G_{o}.$  Define on G by:

$$O(x) = P_{O}(x) \text{ if } x \in G_{O}$$
$$= I \text{ if } x \notin G_{O}.$$

 $\circ$  is a Borel function on G. Define  $A_o$  on  $G_o \times G$  by:

$$A_0'(g,x) = A_0(g,x)$$
 if  $x \in G_0$   
= I if  $x \notin G_0$ .

/  $A_0'$  is a  $(G_0$ , G) cocycle which is a coboundary  $(\rho)$ .

Also,  $A(g,x) = A_0'(g,x)$  for  $(\lambda \times \alpha)$  a.e.  $(g,x) \in G_0 \times G$ .

Hence, A is a coboundary.

Q. E. D.

4.2. <u>Lemma</u>: Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact second countable abelian group G and let H act

on G by translation. Let  $\mu$  be a measure on C, a Borel section of G with respect to H. Then every (H,G) cocycle relative to  $\widetilde{\mu}$  (as defined by (3.4)) is a coboundary.

<u>Proof:</u> Let  $\lambda_0$  be the Haar measure on H and let  $\xi$ , be the Borel isomorphism from  $C \times H$  onto G defined by (3.3).  $\widetilde{\mu} = (\mu \times \lambda_0) \circ \xi^{-1}$ . Let A be an (H, G) cocycle relative to  $\widetilde{\mu}$ . By the cocycle identity,

 $A(h_1+h_2, g) = A(h_1, g) A(h_2, h_1+g)$   $(\lambda_0 \times \lambda_0 \times \mu)$  a.e. That is,

So there is  $h_0 \in H$  such that,

$$A(h_1+h_2, \xi(c,h_0)) = A(h_1, \xi(c,h_0)) A(h_2, \xi(c,h_1+h_0))$$
  
 $(\lambda_0 \times \lambda_0 \times \mu) \text{ a.e. } (h_1, h_2, c).$ 

Let 
$$o(g) = o(\xi(c,h)) = A(h, \xi(c,h_o)).$$

o is a Borel function on G and

$$\rho(\xi_{(c,h_1+h_2)}) = \rho(\xi_{(c,h_1)}) \Lambda(h_2,\xi_{(c,h_1+h_0)})$$

$$(\lambda_0 \times \lambda_0 \times \mu) \text{ a.e. } (h_1,h_2,c).$$

Putting  $\xi(c,h_1) = g_1$  we get,

$$A(h_2, h_0 + g_1) = \rho^*(g_1) \rho(g_1 + h_2)$$
 (  $\lambda_0 \times \hat{\mu}$ ) a.e.  $(h_2, g_1)$ .

That is, a translate of A is a coboundary. Hence, A itself is a coboundary.

Q. E. D.

A  $(G,X,\underline{\mathbb{U}}(H))$  cocycle is said to be a strict cocycle if the cocycle identity (4.1) holds everywhere. We say that a cocycle has a strict version if A is almost everywhere equal to a strict cocycle. If a cocycle A is cohomologous to a strict cocycle, then A has a strict version. In particular, every coboundary has a strict version. Lemma 8.26 of [24] says that when the G-space X is transitive, then every (G,X) cocycle has a strict version. It is easier to handle strict cocycles. But we do not know whether every  $(G,X,\underline{\mathbb{U}}(H))$  cocycle has a strict version. If G is a countable group, then every  $(G,X,\underline{\mathbb{U}}(H))$  cocycle has a strict version. In chapter II we shall exhibit strict versions in some more special cases.

# 5. Systems of Imprimitivity.

Let H be a separable Hilbert space and X a standard Borel G-space, where G is a locally compact second countable group. By a system of imprimitivity based on (G, X) and acting in H, we mean a pair (U, P)

where

- (i) U is a representation of G acting in H
- (ii) P is a spectral measure on the Borel subsets of X, acting in the same Hilbert space  $\mathbb{H}$  such that for each Borel set  $D \subseteq X$  and for each  $g \in G$ ,

$$U_g^{-1}P(D)U_g = P(gD).$$

Two systems of imprimitivity (U,P) and (U', P') based on (G,X) and acting in IH and IH respectively are said to be equivalent if there exists an isometric isomorphism S of IH onto IH such that

$$SP(D)S^{-1} = P'(D)$$
 and  $SU_gS^{-1} = U'_g$ ,

for each Borel set D⊆X and each g & G.

5.1. Example: Let  $\mu$  be a measure on X, quasi-invariant under the action of G, and let A be a  $(G,X,\underline{\mathbb{U}}(\mathbb{H}))$  cocycle relative to  $\mu$ . We can define a system of imprimitivity  $(\mathbb{U}^A, P)$  on (G,X) acting in  $L^2(X,\mathbb{H},\mu)$  by setting

$$(U_g^A f)(x) = \sqrt{\frac{d\mu_g}{d\mu}(x)} A(g,x) f(gx), x \in X, g \in G,$$

$$P(D)f = 1_{D} \cdot f$$

where  $l_D$  is the characteristic function of D. (U<sup>A</sup>, P) will be called a concrete system of imprimitivity of multiplicity n, where n (=  $\infty$ , 1, 2,  $\cdots$ ) is the dimension of the Hilbert space H. If A is cohomologous to A', then  $(U^A$ , P) is equivalent to  $(U^{A'}$ , P). More generally, let  $\mu_{\infty}$ ,  $\mu_{1}$ ,  $\mu_{2}$ ,  $\cdots$  be a sequence of mutually singular Borel measures on X, each  $\mu_i$  quasiinvariant under G ( some  $\mu_i$ 's may be zeros). For each n, let  $A_n$  be a  $(G,X,\underline{\mathbb{U}}(\mathbb{H}_n))$  cocycle relative to  $\mu_n$ , where  $\mathbb{H}_n$  is a Hilbert space of dimension n. Then we can define a system of imprimitivity (U,P) on (G,X) acting in  $\Sigma$  L<sup>2</sup>(X,  $\mathbb{H}_n$ ,  $\mu_n$ ) by requiring that the restriction of (U,P) to  $L^2(X, \mathbb{H}_n, \mu_n)$  be (U<sup>A</sup>n , P<sub>n</sub>) where  $P_n$  is the spectral measure on X, acting in  ${\tt L}^2({\tt X},\,{\tt H}_n,\,\mu_n)$  and consisting of multiplication by characteristic functions. Such a system of imprimitivity will be called a concrete system of imprimitivity. If (U', P') is another system of imprimitivity acting in  $\Sigma$   $L^2(X, \mathbb{H}_n$  ,  $\mu_n')$  with associated cocycles  $A'_{\infty}$  ,  $A_1'$  ,  $A_2'$  , ... , then (U , P) and (U' , P') are equivalent if and only if, for each n,  $\mu_n$  and  $\mu_n^{\phantom{n}t}$  are mutually absolutely continuous and An is cohomologous to An'.

We refer to Varadarajan [24] for proofs of the above stated results on systems of imprimitivity. In the sequel, we shall assume that  $\operatorname{IH}_n = \operatorname{C}^n$  if n is finite and  $\operatorname{H}_\infty = \operatorname{L}^2$ . We will need the following theorem. This is proved in Varadarajan [24].

5.2. Theorem. Every (G,X) system of imprimitivity acting in a separable Hilbert space is equivalent to a concrete system of imprimitivity.

## 6. Another definition of a (G, X, U(H)) cocycle.

A is a (G,X, $\underline{\mathbb{Y}}$ ( $\mathbb{H}$ )) cocycle relative to a quasiinvariant measure  $\alpha$  on X, if A is  $G \times X$  measurable and  $A(g_1g_2, x) = A(g_1, x)A(g_2, g_1x) \quad (\lambda \times \lambda \times \alpha) \text{ a.e.}$ 

This is equation (4.1). However, for some purposes, it is convenient if (4.1) holds  $\alpha$  a.e. for every pair  $(g_1,g_2)$   $\epsilon$  G $\times$ G. The purpose of this section is to show that if we require the cocycle A to be only  $\chi \times \alpha$  measurable, then this can be accomplished. Further, if  $H \subseteq G$  is a closed subgroup of G and  $\chi_0$  is the Haar measure on H, then  $\chi_0$  is  $\chi_0 \times \alpha$  measurable.

6.1. Lemma. Let X be a Borel space, S a separable metric space and f a Borel map of X into S. Then there

exists a sequence  $\{f_n\}$  of Borel maps of X into S such that,

- (i) each f, takes only countably many values, and
- (ii)  $f_n(x) \longrightarrow f(x)$  uniformly for  $x \in X$ , as  $n \longrightarrow \infty$ .

This is lemma 8.3. of [24] and so the proof is omitted.

- 6.2. Theorem. Let G and X be standard Borel spaces with finite measures  $\lambda$  and  $\alpha$  respectively. Let the function  $M: G \times X \longrightarrow C$  have the following properties:
- (i) For each  $g \in G$ ,  $x \longrightarrow w(g,x)$  is Borel and belongs to  $L^2(X,\alpha)$ .
- (ii)  $g \longrightarrow w(g, \cdot)$  is a Borel function from G to  $L^2(X, \alpha)$ . Then there exists a  $\lambda$ -null set  $N \subseteq G$  and a function  $\widetilde{w}: G \times X \longrightarrow C$  such that,
  - (a)  $\widetilde{w}$  is Borel on  $(G-N) \times X$ , and
  - (b) for every  $g \in G$ ,  $\alpha(\{x: \widetilde{w}(g,x) = w(g,x)\}) = \alpha(X)$ . If w is bounded by a constant K, then  $\widetilde{w}$  can be so chosen that it is also bounded by the same constant K.

<u>Proof:</u> Since X is a standard Borel space,  $L^2(X,\alpha)$  is a separable metric space. So by lemma 6.1, there exists a sequence  $\{f_n\}$  of Borel maps of G into  $L^2(X,\alpha)$  such that,

(1) each f takes only countably many values, and

(2) 
$$f_n(g) \longrightarrow w_g$$
 uniformly for  $g \in G$ , as  $n \longrightarrow \infty$ .  
 $(w_g(x) = w(g,x))$ .

Define  $f_n^*$  on  $G \times X$  as follows:

$$f_n^*(g,x) = f_n(g)(x).$$

Because of (1),  $f_n^*$  is  $G \times X$  measurable. Since  $f_n(g) \longrightarrow w_g$  in  $L^2(X,\alpha)$ , uniformly in g,

$$\lim_{m,n\to\infty} \int |f_n(g)(x) - f_m(g)(x)|^2 d\alpha(x) = 0,$$

uniformly in g.

Sp, by the definition of  $f_n^*$ ,

$$\lim_{m,n\to\infty}\iint_{G}|f_{n}^{*}(g,x)-f_{m}^{*}(g,x)|^{2}d\alpha(x)d\chi(x)=0.$$

Thus,  $f_n^*$  converges in  $\chi \times \alpha$  measure, and therefore some subsequence  $\left\{f_n^*\right\}$  of  $\left\{f_n^*\right\}$  converges for a.e. (g,x) to a  $G \times X$  measurable limit function  $f^*$ , defined at the points of convergence of this subsequence. By Fubini's theorem, there is a subset  $G_0$  of G, of full  $\chi$ -measure such that the sequence of functions  $\left\{f_{n_j}^*(g,\cdot)\right\}$  converges to  $f(g,\cdot)$   $\alpha$  a.e. if  $g \in G_0$ .

$$\alpha(\{x: f^*(g,x) = w(g,x)\}) = \alpha(X).$$

Define  $\widetilde{\mathbf{w}}$  on  $G \times X$  by:

 $\widetilde{w}(g,x) = f^*(g,x)$  if  $f^*(g,x)$  is defined and  $g \in G_0$ , = w(g,x) otherwise.

w satisfies all the requirements of the theorem.

Q. E. D.

## 6.3. Remarks and consequences.

- (1) The modified function  $\widetilde{w}$  may not be Borel on  $G \times X$ , but it is  $\lambda \times \alpha$  measurable.
- (2) The theorem remains valid if the measure  $\lambda$  is  $\sigma$ -finite, for we need only replace it by an equivalent finite measure.
- (3) If  $g \longrightarrow w(g, \cdot)$  is continuous from G to  $L^2(X, \alpha)$ , then it is Borel and so the theorem 6.2 holds. This is the situation in the discussion that follows.

Suppose X is a Borel G-space where G is a locally compact second countable group. Let  $\chi$  be the Haar measure on G and  $\alpha$  a finite measure on X, quasi-invariant under the action of G. Then the Radon-Nikodym derivative,

$$\rho_g(x) = \frac{d\alpha_g}{d\alpha}(x)$$

has a version which is Borel in x, for each fixed g.

Further, from the theory of group representation, we know that

$$g \longrightarrow \sqrt{\frac{d\alpha_g}{d\alpha}} \cdot 1 = \sqrt{\frac{d\alpha_g}{d\alpha}} = \sqrt{\rho_g}$$

is continuous from G to  $L^2(X,\alpha)$ . Hence, by theorem 6.2, we can get a  $\lambda \times \alpha$  measurable version o' such that, for each  $g \in G$ ,  $\rho_g^i(x) = \rho_g(x)$   $\alpha$  a.e. Also,

$$o'_{g_1g_2}(x) = o'_{g_1}(x) o'_{g_2}(g_1x) \quad \alpha \text{ a.e. } x \in X,$$

for each pair  $g_1, g_2 \in G$ .

Now, let  $A: G \times X \longrightarrow \underline{U}(IH)$  be a function such that,

- (i) for each g,  $A(g, \cdot)$  is Borel on X, and
- (ii)  $g \longrightarrow \langle A(g, \cdot) e_i, e_j \rangle$  is continuous from G to  $L^2(X, \alpha)$ , where  $\{e_i\}$  is a complete orthonormal set in  $\mathbb{H}$ .

Then, by theorem 6.2, for each  $g \in G$ , the function  $a_{ij}(g,\cdot) = \langle A(g,\cdot)e_i , e_j \rangle$  can be modified on an  $\alpha$ -null set so that  $a_{ij}(\cdot,\cdot)$  is  $\lambda \times \alpha$  measurable. From this one can obtain a function  $A'(\cdot,\cdot)$  with values in  $\underline{U}(H)$  such that A' is  $\lambda \times \alpha$  measurable and for every  $g \in G$ ,

$$A'(g,x) = A(g,x)$$
  $\alpha$  a.e.  $x \in X$ .

If A satisfies the cocycle identity  $\alpha$  a.e. for each pair  $g_1, g_2 \in G$ , then so does A'.

Next, let A:  $G \times X \longrightarrow \underline{\underline{U}}(H)$  be a function satisfying (i) and (ii) of the above paragraph.  $H\subseteq G$  be a closed subgroup of G.  $g\longrightarrow a_{i,j}(g,\cdot)$  is continuous from H to  $L^2(X,\alpha)$ . Hence, by theorem 6.2, and the above discussion, for each g  $\epsilon$  H,  $A(g, \cdot)$  can be modified on an  $\alpha$ -null set to get a function A' on  $H \times X$ so that A' is  $\lambda_0 \times \alpha$  measurable, where  $\lambda_0$  is the Haar measure on H. By the same argument, A can be modified for each g  $\epsilon$  G - H on an lpha-null set so that the resulting function A' on  $(G-H)\times X$  is  $\lambda \times \alpha$  measurable. can be so modified to obtain a function A' such that A is  $\lambda \times \alpha$  measurable and  $A \mid_{H \times X}$  is  $\lambda_0 \times \alpha$  measurable. If A satisfies the cocycle identity a a.e. for each pair  $g_1, g_2 \in G$ , then so does A'.

Now suppose  $A: G\times X \longrightarrow \underline{\mathbb{U}}(\mathbb{H})$  satisfies (4.1), .viz.  $A(g_1g_2, x) = A(g_1, x)A(g_2, g_1x)$  a.e.  $(g_1, g_2, x)$ . Define the operator  $L_g$  on  $L^2(X, \mathbb{H}, \alpha)$  by:

$$(L_g f)(x) = A(g,x) \sqrt{\frac{d\alpha_g}{d\alpha}(x)} f(gx), geG, xeX, feL^2(X, H, \alpha).$$

From the theory of group representations (see pages 67,68 of [24]) we know that there is a representation  $U(g \rightarrow U_g)$  of G such that,

$$\mathbf{L}_{g} = \mathbf{U}_{g}$$
 for a.e.  $g \in G$ .

Also, there is a function A':  $GXX \longrightarrow \underline{U}(H)$  such that, for each  $g \in G$ , A' $(g, \cdot)$  is Borel on X and,

$$(U_g f)(x) = A'(g,x) \sqrt{\frac{d\alpha_g}{d\alpha}}(x) f(gx), x \in X, f \in L^2(X, \mathbb{H}, \alpha).$$

A satisfies the cocycle identity (for  $\alpha$  a.e.) for every pair  $g_1, g_2 \in G$ . If,

$$(T_g f)(\cdot) = \sqrt{\frac{d\alpha_g}{d\alpha}} f(g \cdot)$$
,  $f \in L^2(X, \mathbb{H}, \alpha)$ , then

$$g \longrightarrow \langle A'(g,\cdot)e_i, e_j \rangle = \langle U_g T_{-g}e_i, e_j \rangle$$

is a continuous function from G to  $L^2(X,\alpha)$ . So we can get a modification A'' of A' such that A'' is  $\lambda \times \alpha$  measurable, A'' = A' ( $\lambda \times \alpha$ ) a.e. and, for every  $g_1$ ,  $g_2 \in G$ ,

 $A''(g_1g_2, x) = A''(g_1, x) A''(g_2, g_1x) \alpha$  a.e.  $x \in X$ . Also, if H is a closed subgroup of G, then A'' can be so obtained that  $A''|_{H \times X}$  is  $\lambda_0 \times \alpha$  measurable, where  $\lambda_0$ 

is the Haar measure on H. Thus we have the following proposition.

6.4. <u>Proposition</u>. Let  $A: G \times X \longrightarrow \underline{U}(H)$  be a Borel function satisfying

 $A(g_1g_2, x) = A(g_1, x)A(g_2, g_1x) \quad (\lambda \times \lambda \times \alpha) \text{ a.e.}$ 

Let H be a closed subgroup of G and let  $\chi_0$  be the Haar measure on H. Then we can get a function A':  $G \times X \longrightarrow \underline{U}(H)$  such that,

- (i) A'(g,x) = A(g,x) ( $\lambda \times \alpha$ ) a.e.  $(g,x) \in G \times X$ ,
- (ii) A' is  $\lambda \times \alpha$  measurable,
- (iii)  $A'_{H \times X}$  is  $\lambda_0 \times \alpha$  measurable, and
- (iv) for every  $g_1$ ,  $g_2 \in G$ ,

 $A'(g_1g_2, x) = A'(g_1, x)A'(g_2, g_1x) \quad \alpha \text{ a.e. } x \in X.$ 

Similarly, two  $(G,X,\underline{\mathbb{U}}(\mathbb{H}))$  cocycles  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  relative to the quasi-invariant measure  $\alpha$  on X, are cohomologous if and only if there exists a Borel function  $\alpha : X \longrightarrow \underline{\mathbb{U}}(\mathbb{H})$  such that for each  $g \in G$ ,

 $A_1(g,x) = o(x) A_2(g,x) o^*(gx) \alpha \text{ a.e. } x \in X.$ 

#### CHAPTER II

#### COCYCLES ON A FLOW BUILT UNDER A FUNCTION

#### 1. Flow built under a function.

Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be a finite measure space which is complete and let  $S:\Omega \longrightarrow \Omega$  be a one-one, bimeasurable map, such that S preserves  $\mu$ -null sets. S defines an action of N, the integer group, on  $\Omega$  and  $\mu$  is quasi-invariant under this action. Let F be a  $\mathcal{B}$ -measurable real-valued function on  $\Omega$  such that  $F \geqslant c > 0$  and  $\int F(w) \ d\mu(w) < \infty$ , where c is a constant. Let  $\overline{\Omega}$  denote the subset of  $\Omega \times \mathbb{R}$  under the graph of F; i.e.,

$$\overline{\Omega} = \left\{ (w, u) : w \in \Omega , 0 \le u < F(w) \right\}$$

Equip  $\mathbb R$  with the Lebesgue  $\sigma$ -algebra and the Lebesgue measure  $\lambda$  .  $\widehat{\Omega}$  is a measurable subset of the completed product  $\sigma$ -algebra on  $\Omega \times \mathbb R$ . Let  $\widehat{\mathcal G}$ ,  $\widehat{\mu}$  be the restrictions to  $\widehat{\Omega}$  of the completed product  $\sigma$ -algebra and the product measure  $\mu \times \lambda$  on  $\Omega \times \mathbb R$ . Since  $\mathbb F \in L^1(\Omega,\mu)$ ,  $(\widehat{\Omega},\widehat{\mathcal G},\widehat{\mu})$  is again a finite measure space. On  $\widehat{\Omega}$  we define a one-parameter family  $\{T_t\colon t\in \mathbb R\}$  of transformations, i.e., an action of the real line

## on $\Omega$ , as follows:

$$T_{t}(w,u) = (w,u+t), \quad \text{if } 0 \le u+t < F(w)$$

$$= (S^{n}w, u+t - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} F(S^{k}w)),$$

$$\text{if } \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} F(S^{k}w) \le u+t < \sum_{k=0}^{n} F(S^{k}w), \quad n=1,2,\cdots$$

$$= (S^{-n}w, u+t + \sum_{k=-1}^{-n} F(S^{k}w)),$$

$$\text{if } -\sum_{k=1}^{n} F(S^{-k}w) \le u+t < -\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} F(S^{-k}w), \quad n=1,2,\cdots$$

It can be shown that  $\left\{T_{t}:t\in\mathbb{R}\right\}$  is a measurable flow on  $\overline{\Omega}$  by which we mean that,

(i)  $\left\{T_t: t \in \mathbb{R}\right\}$  makes  $\Omega$  a Borel R-space, and (ii)  $\mu$  is quasi-invariant under the action of R. We call  $\left\{T_t: t \in \mathbb{R}\right\}$  the flow built under the function F, on the transformation S.  $\Omega$  is called the base space, S the base transformation and F the ceiling function. We note that,

$$T_{F(w)}(w,0) = (Sw, 0),$$

a relation which will be useful in the sequel.

## Notation: For each teIR, and we $\Omega$ let,

Remark: One can visualise translation on the real line as a flow built under the constant function 1 with base space  $\Omega$  as the integers and S as addition by 1. If this is done,  $[t]_w$  is independent of w and equals the integral part of t. For the integral part [t] of t, the following relation is easily proved.

$$[t_1+t_2+t_3] = [t_1+t_2] + [t_3+\langle t_1+t_2\rangle]$$

where <t > is the fractional part of t. (The above relation is (3.1) of chapter I). The following lemma is a

generalization of this fact. This lemma was proved jointly with M. G. Nadkarni.

1.1. Lemma. For  $t_1$ ,  $t_2$ ,  $t_3 \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $w \in \Omega$ ,

$$(1.3) \quad [t_1 + t_2 + t_3]_w = [t_1 + t_2]_w + [t_3 + \langle t_1 + t_2 \rangle_w]_s [t_1 + t_2]_w(w).$$

<u>Proof:</u> Let  $n_1 = [t_1 + t_2]_w$ ,  $n_2 = [t_3 + \langle t_1 + t_2 \rangle_w]_S [t_1 + t_2]_w(w)$ 

and  $n = [t_1+t_2+t_3]_w$ . Consider the case when  $n_1, n_2 \ge 0$ .

By definition,

$$\begin{array}{l} n_1 - 1 & n_1 \\ \Sigma & F(S^k w) \leq t_1 + t_2 < \sum_{k=0}^{n_1} F(S^k w), \text{ and} \\ n_2 - 1 & n_2 \\ \Sigma & F(S^k(S^{n_1} w)) \leq t_3 + \langle t_1 + t_2 \rangle_w < \sum_{k=0}^{n_2} F(S^k(S^{n_1} w)). \end{array}$$

i.e., 
$$\sum_{k=n_1}^{n_1+n_2-1} F(s^k w) \le t_3+t_1+t_2-\sum_{k=0}^{n_1-1} F(s^k w) < \sum_{k=n_1}^{n_1+n_2} F(s^k w)$$
.

Therefore, 
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n_1+n_2-1} F(S^k w) \le t_1+t_2+t_3 < \sum_{k=0}^{n_1+n_2} F(S^k w)$$
.

i.e., 
$$n = [t_1 + t_2 + t_3]_w = n_1 + n_2$$
.

Similarly, we can consider the remaining cases and verify (1.3).

Q. E. D.

#### 2. Cocycles on a flow built under a function.

Since N is countable, every (N,  $\Omega$ ) cocycle has a strict version. Let  $\beta$  be a measurable  $\underline{\underline{U}}$  (H) valued function on  $\Omega$  , and put

$$(2.1) \quad \mathbf{A}_{\beta}(m, w) = \begin{cases} \beta(w)\beta(Sw) \cdot \cdot \cdot \beta(S^{m-1}w) &, & m > 0 \\ I, & m = 0 \end{cases}$$

$$\beta(S^{-1}w)^* \cdot \cdot \cdot \beta(S^{m}w)^*, & m < 0.$$

Then  $A_{\beta}$  is a strict  $(N,\Omega)$  cocycle. Conversely, if A is an  $(N,\Omega)$  cocycle and  $\beta(w)=A(1,w)$ , then  $A=A_{\beta}$  a.e. Thus  $(N,\Omega)$  cocycles are completely described in terms of a single  $\underline{U}(H)$  valued measurable function on  $\Omega$ . In the rest of this section we establish a relation between strict  $(N,\Omega)$  cocycles and strict  $(R,\bar{\Omega})$  cocycles and show that every  $(R,\bar{\Omega})$  cocycle has a strict version.

Let A be a strict  $(\mathbb{N},\Omega)$  cocycle and define  $\overline{\mathbb{A}}$  on  $\mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega}$  as follows:

(2.2) 
$$\overline{A}(t, (w,u)) = A([t+u]_w, w)$$
.

Then  $\overline{A}$  satisfies the cocycle identity (4.1) of chapter I. This can be verified by using lemma 1.1. Further,  $\overline{A}$  is jointly measurable in view of the following lemma.

2.1. <u>Lemma</u>.  $(t,(w,u)) \longrightarrow ([t+u]_w, w)$  is a measurable map of  $\mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega}$  into  $\mathbb{N} \times \Omega$ .

<u>Proof:</u> Since  $(t,(w,u)) \longrightarrow w$  is measurable, it is enough to show that  $(t,(w,u)) \longrightarrow [t+u]_w$  is measurable. Let  $n_0$  be a (positive) integer, and consider

$$E = \{(t,(w,u)) : [t+u]_w = n_o \}$$
.

Now,

 $\phi_{\underline{l}}: (t,(w,u)) \longrightarrow (t+u, (w,u)) \text{ is measurable}$  from  $\mathbb{R} \times \bar{\Omega}$  —  $\mathbb{R} \times \bar{\Omega}$  (Ambrose [1],p.731), and

 $\phi_2$ :  $(t,(w,u)) \longrightarrow (t,w)$  is measurable from

 $\mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega}$  into  $\mathbb{R} \times \Omega$ . Therefore,

 $\phi_2 \circ \phi_1 : (t,(w,u)) \longrightarrow (t+u\ ,\ w) \text{ is measurable}$  from  $\mathbb{R} \times \bar{\Omega}$  into  $\mathbb{R} \times \Omega$  . Next,

$$V = \{(t, w) : [t]_{w} = n_0 \}$$

$$= \left\{ (t, w) : \sum_{k=0}^{n_0-1} F(S^k w) \le t < \sum_{k=0}^{n_0} F(S^k w) \right\}$$

is a measurable subset of  $\mathbb{R} imes \Omega$ . Hence,

$$E = \{(t, (w, u)) : [t+u]_w = n_o\} = (\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1)^{-1}(v)$$

is a measurable subset of  $\mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

Q. E. D.

2.2. Theorem. Let B be a strict ( $\mathbb{R}$ , $\overline{\Omega}$ ) cocycle. Then B is strictly cohomologous to a cocycle  $\overline{A}$  for some ( $\mathbb{N}$ , $\Omega$ ) cocycle A. Two ( $\mathbb{N}$ , $\Omega$ ) cocycles  $\mathbb{A}_1$  and  $\mathbb{A}_2$  are cohomologous if and only if the corresponding ( $\mathbb{R}$ , $\overline{\Omega}$ ) cocycles  $\overline{A}_1$  and  $\overline{A}_2$  are strictly cohomologous. Proof: Define  $\beta(\mathbb{W}) = \mathbb{B}(\mathbb{F}(\mathbb{W})$ , ( $\mathbb{W}$ , $\mathbb{O}$ ), and let A denote the ( $\mathbb{N}$ , $\Omega$ ) cocycle  $\mathbb{A}_\beta$  giben by  $\beta$  according to (2.1). Define  $\rho$  on  $\Omega$  by:

$$P(w,u) = B(u, (w,0)).$$

P is measurable on  $\Omega$ . For  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(w,u) \in \Omega$ ,  $P(w,u)B(t,(w,u)) \ P(w,u)B(t,(w,u)) \ P(w,u)B(t,(w,u)$ 

So B and  $\overline{A}$  are strictly cohomologous. If two  $(N, \Omega)$  cocycles  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are cohomologous  $(P_0)$ , then  $\overline{A}_1$  and  $\overline{A}_2$  are cohomologous (P), where  $P(w,u) = P_0(w)$ . If  $\overline{A}_1$  and  $\overline{A}_2$  are strictly cohomologous (P), then  $A_1$  and

A<sub>2</sub> are strictly cohomologous ( $\rho_0$ ) where  $\rho_0(w) = \rho(w,0)$ .

Q. E. D.

2.3. Theorem. To every  $(\mathbb{R}, \overline{\Omega})$  cocycle A, there corresponds a strict  $(\mathbb{R}, \overline{\Omega})$  cocycle A' such that,

 $A(t, \overline{w}) = A'(t, \overline{w})$  for a.e.  $(t, \overline{w}) \in \mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

Proof: Since A is an (IR, $\bar{\Omega}$ ) cocycle, we have:

(2.3)  $A(s+t,(w,u)) = A(s,(w,u))A(t,T_s(w,u))$ 

a.e.  $(s,t,(w,u)) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

Since  $[0,c)\times\Omega$  is of positive measure in  $\overline{\Omega}$  , there is  $u_0$  ,  $0\leq u_0 < c$  , such that,

 $A(s+t,(w,u_0)) = A(s,(w,u_0))A(t,T_s(w,u_0))$ 

a.e.  $(s,t,w) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \times \Omega$ .

Define  $A_1$  on  $\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{\Omega}$  by:

 $A_1(t,(w,u)) = A(t,T_{u_0}(w,u)).$ 

Then  $A_1$  is an  $(\mathbb{R}, \overline{\Omega})$  cocycle. Moreover,

(2.4)  $A_1(s+t,(w,0)) = A_1(s,(w,0))A_1(t,T_s(w,0))$ 

a.e. (s,t,w)  $\epsilon \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \times \Omega$ .

Let J be a Borel subset of  $\Omega$  of measure zero such

that, if  $w \not\in J$ , (2.4) holds for a.e.  $(s,t) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ . Replacing J by  $\bigcup_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} S^n(J)$  we can assume S(J) = J

and  $S^{-1}(J) = J$ . Define  $A_2$  on  $\mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega}$  by,

$$A_2(t,(w,u)) = \begin{cases} I & \text{if } w \in J \\ A_1(t,(w,u)) & \text{if } w \not\in J. \end{cases}$$

Then  $A_2$  is an  $(\mathbb{R}, \overline{\Omega})$  cocycle and  $A_2 = A_1$  a.e. Also, for each we  $\Omega$ ,

(2.5) 
$$A_2(s+t,(w,0)) = A_2(s,(w,0))A_2(t,T_s(w,0))$$
  
a.e.  $(s,t) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ .

Define the measurable function  $\rho$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  by:

$$P(w,u) = A_0(u,(w,0)).$$

Let  ${\tt A}_3$  be the (  ${\tt IR}$  ,  ${ar\Omega}$  ) cocycle defined by:

$$A_3(t,(w,u)) = \rho(w,u)A_2(t,(w,u))\rho^*(T_t(w,u)).$$

 $A_3$  is cohomologous to  $A_2$ ; for each  $w \in \Omega$ ,  $A_3$ -satisfies (2.6)  $A_3(s+t,(w,0)) = A_3(s,(w,0))A_3(t,T_s(w,0))$ 

Moreover,

$$A_3(u,(w,0)) = I, \quad 0 \le u < F(w).$$

Fix w  $\epsilon$   $\Omega$  . For a.e. s,  $F(w) \leq s < F(w) + F(Sw)$ , we have,

(2.7)  $A_3(s-F(w)+t,(Sw,0)) = A_3(s-F(w),(Sw,0)) \cdot A_3(t,T_s(w,0))$  a.e.  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

=  $A_3(t, T_s(w,0))$  a.e.  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

(2.8)  $A_3(s+t,(w,0)) = A_3(s,(w,0)) A_3(t,T_s(w,0))$ 

a.e. tεR.

Fixing s for which (2.7) and (2.8) hold and putting u = s+t - F(w), we have,

 $A_3(u+F(w), (w,0)) = A_3(s,(w,0))A_3(u,(sw,0))$ 

a.e. uεR.

Therefore,  $A_3$ (s , (w,0)) is constant for a.e. s in  $F(w) \leq s \leq F(w) + F(Sw)$ . Let  $\beta(w)$  be this constant value. Then  $\beta$  is a  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\mathbb{H})$  valued measurable function on  $\Omega$  . For each  $w \in \Omega$ ,

 $\beta(w) = A_3(s,(w,0))$  a.e.  $s, F(w) \leq s < F(w)+F(sw)$ .

Let  $A_{\beta}$  be the  $(N,\Omega)$  cocycle obtained from  $\beta$  by (2.1).

For each  $w \in \Omega$ ,

$$(2.9) \begin{cases} \overline{A}_{\beta}(s,(w,0)) = I = A_{3}(s,(w,0)), & 0 \leq s < F(w) \\ \overline{A}_{\beta}(s,(w,0)) = \beta(w) = A_{3}(s,(w,0)), \\ a.e. s, F(w) \leq s < F(w) + F(Sw), \end{cases}$$

a.e. s, 
$$F(w) \leq s < F(w)+F(Sw)$$
,

and,

$$(2.10) \begin{cases} A_{3}(s+t,(w,0)) = A_{3}(s,(w,0)) A_{3}(t,(w,s)) \\ a.e. (s,t) \epsilon [0,F(w)) \times [0,c) \end{cases}$$

$$\overline{A}_{\beta}(s+t,(w,0)) = \overline{A}_{\beta}(s,(w,0)) \overline{A}_{\beta}(t,(w,s))$$

$$a.e. (s,t) \epsilon [0,F(w)) \times [0,c).$$

Applying (2.9) to (2.10) we have, for each w  $\epsilon \Omega$ ,

$$A_3(\mathsf{t},(\mathsf{w},\mathsf{s})) = \overline{A}_\beta(\mathsf{t},(\mathsf{w},\mathsf{s})) \text{ a.e. } (\mathsf{s},\mathsf{t}) \in [\mathsf{0},\mathsf{F}(\mathsf{w})) \times [\mathsf{0},\mathsf{c}).$$

Therefore.

$$\overline{A}_{\beta}(\texttt{t},(\texttt{w},\texttt{s})) = A_{\overline{3}}(\texttt{t},(\texttt{w},\texttt{s})) \text{ a.e. } (\texttt{t},(\texttt{w},\texttt{s})) \text{ } \epsilon \text{ } [\texttt{0},\texttt{c}) \times \overline{\Omega} \text{ .}$$

 ${\tt A}_{\tt 3}$  and  $\overline{\tt A}_{\tt B}$  are cocycles, the cocycle identity now implies that the equality  $\overline{A}_{\beta} = A_{3}$  holds for a.e. (t, $\overline{\mathbb{w}}$ )  $\epsilon \, \mathbb{R} \, \mathsf{x} \, \overline{\Omega}$  . Thus  $\mathbb{A}_3$  has a strict version and so A2 has a strict version, since it is cohomologous to A3. Since  $A_1 = A_2$  a.e.,  $A_1$  has a strict version. But  $A_1$  is a translate of A and so A has a strict version. This proves the theorem.

Q. E. D.

Remark: The above proof is an adaptation of the proof of lemma 12.3 of chapter VII of [8].

#### 3. Ambrose-Kakutani Theorem.

Let  $\{T_t: t \in \mathbb{R}\}$  and  $\{T_t': t \in \mathbb{R}\}$  be measurable flows on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  and  $(\Omega', \mathcal{B}', \mu')$  respectively. We say that  $\{T_t\}$  and  $\{T'_t\}$  are isomorphic if there are invariant null sets N of  $\Omega$  and N' of  $\Omega'$  and a one-one, bimeasurable map  $\varphi$  of  $\Omega$ -N onto  $\Omega'$ -N' such that  $\mu' = \mu \varphi^{-1}$  and  $T'_t = \varphi T_t \varphi^{-1}$  (on  $\Omega'$ -N'). They are said to be quasi-isomorphic if  $\mu' \equiv \mu \varphi^{-1}$  and  $\varphi T_t \varphi^{-1} = T'_t$ . Let the flow  $\{T_t: t \in \mathbb{R}\}$  on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be quasi-isomorphic to the flow  $\{T'_t: t \in \mathbb{R}\}$  on  $(\Omega', \mathcal{B}', \mu')$ . Suppose every  $(\mathbb{R}, \Omega)$  cocycle has a strict version. Then, it is easy to see that, every  $(\mathbb{R}, \Omega')$  cocycle also has a strict version.

A measurable flow  $\left\{T_t: t \in \mathbb{R}\right\}$  on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  is said to be proper if given a set A of positive  $\mu$ -measure, there is a set B  $\subseteq$  A of positive  $\mu$ -measure and  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\mu(B - T_t B) > 0$ . It is easy to see that if  $\left\{T_t: t \in \mathbb{R}\right\}$  is ergodic, then it is proper. A deep theorem of Ambrose and Kakutani [2] says

that if  $\mu$  is invariant under  $\left\{T_t:t\in\mathbb{R}\right\}$  and  $\left\{T_t:t\in\mathbb{R}\right\}$  is proper, then  $\Omega$  can be split up into countable number of invariant measurable sets  $\mathbb{N},\ \Omega_1,\ \Omega_2,\ \ldots$  such that  $\mu(\mathbb{N})=0$  and restriction of  $\left\{T_t:t\in\mathbb{R}\right\}$  to  $\Omega_i$  is isomorphic to a flow built under a function. Thus, in view of the results of the last section, when  $\mu$  is invariant under  $\left\{T_t:t\in\mathbb{R}\right\}$  and the flow is proper, every ( $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Omega$ ) cocycle has a strict version and we can describe the cohomology classes of ( $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Omega$ ) cocycles in terms of ( $\mathbb{N}$ ,  $\Omega_o$ ) cocycles where  $\Omega_o$  is a different measure space.

In [21] Rokhlin gives a new proof of Ambrose - Kakutani theorem when  $(\Omega, \beta, \mu)$  is a Lebesgue space and  $\mu$  is invariant under the flow. In this case, the condition that  $\{T_t\colon t\in R\}$  is proper is equivalent to the condition that  $\{w\colon T_tw=w \text{ for all }t\in R\}$ , the set of fixed points of the flow, has measure zero. In [5] Dani has modified Rokhlin's method to prove that if  $\{T_t\colon t\in R\}$  is a proper measurable flow on a Lebesgue space  $(\Omega, \beta, \mu)$   $(\mu \text{ is just quasi-invariant under }\{T_t\colon t\in R\}$ ), then  $\Omega$  can be split up into invariant measurable sets N,  $\Omega_1$ ,  $\Omega_2$ ,  $\cdots$  such that

 $\mu({\rm N})$  = 0 and  $\left\{{\rm T}_{\rm t}: {\rm te}\,{\rm I\!R}\right\}$  restricted to  $\Omega_{\rm i}$  is quasi-isomorphic to a flow built under a function. Thus, cocycles associated with proper measurable flows on a Lebesgue space have strict versions and they can be described in terms of (N ,  $\Omega_{\rm o}$ ) cocycles; where  $\Omega_{\rm o}$  is a different measure space.

# 4. Flows built under a constant function.

Let  $\left\{T_t: t \in \mathbb{R}\right\}$  be a flow built under a constant function F, with base transformation S and base space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ . We assume F=1. In this case,  $\overline{\Omega}=\Omega \times [0,1)$  and  $\overline{\mu}=\mu \times \lambda$ , where  $\lambda$  is the Lebesgue measure on [0,1).

1. Lemma.

(4.1) 
$$\frac{d\overline{\mu}_t}{d\overline{\mu}}(w,u) = \frac{d\mu_{[t+u]}(w)}{d\mu}(w), \quad \overline{\mu} \text{ a.e. } (w,u).$$

Proof: It is enough to prove that,

(4.2) 
$$\int \int \frac{d\overline{\mu}_t}{d\overline{\mu}}(w, u) d\mu(w) d\lambda(u) = \int \int \frac{d\mu[t+u]}{d\mu}(w) d\mu(w) d\lambda(u)$$

for every Borel subset of  $\Omega \times [0,1)$  of the form BXA.

R.H.S. of 
$$(4.2) = \int_{A} \mu_{[t+u]}(B) d\lambda(u)$$
  

$$= \lambda(A_{1})\mu(s^{[t]}B) + \lambda(A_{2})\mu(s^{[t]+l}B),$$
where  $A_{1} = A \cap [0, 1-\langle t \rangle)$  and  $A_{2} = A \cap [1-\langle t \rangle, 1).$   
b.H.S. of  $(4.2) = \overline{\mu}_{t}(B \times A) = \overline{\mu}(T_{t}(B \times A))$   

$$= \overline{\mu}((s^{[t]}B \times (A_{1}+\langle t \rangle)) \cup (s^{[t]+l}B \times (A_{2}+\langle t \rangle-1)))$$

$$= \lambda(A_{1})\mu(s^{[t]}B) + \lambda(A_{2})\mu(s^{[t]+l}B),$$

since the two sets occurring in the union are disjoint.

Q. E. D.

Let A be an  $(N,\Omega)$  cocycle taking values in  $\underline{\mathbb{U}}(H)$ , the group of unitary operators of a separable Hilbert space H. (The inner product in H is denoted by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ ). Let  $\overline{A}$  be the  $(\mathbb{R}, \overline{\Omega})$  cocycle obtained from A. A defines a unitary operator H on  $L^2(\Omega, H, \mu)$  by

(Uf)(w) = A(1,w) 
$$\sqrt{\frac{d\mu_1}{d\mu}}$$
(w) f(S<sup>-1</sup>w), f  $\epsilon$  L<sup>2</sup>( $\Omega$ , H,  $\mu$ ).

Likewise,  $\overline{A}$  defines a one-parameter group of unitary operators  $\overline{U}_{t}$  on  $L^{2}(\overline{\Omega}$  ,  $\overline{\mu}$ ) by:

$$(\overline{U}_{t}h)(w,u) = \overline{A}(t,(w,u)) \sqrt{\frac{d\overline{\mu}_{t}}{d\overline{\mu}}(w,u) h(T_{-t}(w,u))},$$

$$h \in L^{2}(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{H}, \overline{\mu}).$$

Let E and  $\overline{E}$  be the spectral measures associated (by the Stone's theorem) with U and  $\{\overline{U}_t:t\in\mathbb{R}\}$  respectively. E is defined on the circle group and  $\overline{E}$  on the real line. We prove the following:

4.2. Theorem. Suppose 1 is not an eigenvalue of U, and E is of uniform multiplicity n,  $1 \le n \le \infty$ . Then,  $\overline{E}$  also is of uniform multiplicity n.

Proof: Since  $\dot{E}$  is of uniform multiplicity n, there are functions  $f_1$ ,  $f_2$ , ...,  $f_n$  in  $L^2(\Omega, H, \mu)$  such that,

- (i)  $(U^k f_i, f_j) = 0$  if  $i \neq j, 1 \leq i, j \leq n$ ,
- (ii) the measures  $\nu(\cdot) = (\mathbb{E}(\cdot)f_i, f_i)$  are same for each  $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ , and,
- (iii) the closed linear span of  $\{U^kf_i: k \text{ integer,} i=1,2,\cdots,n\}$  is  $L^2(\Omega, H, \mu)$ .

Define 
$$\overline{f}_i$$
 on  $\overline{\Omega}$  by: 
$$\overline{f}_i(w,u) = f_i(w).$$

Then, 
$$\overline{f}_i \in L^2(\overline{\Omega}, \mathbb{H}, \overline{\mu})$$
.

1) 
$$(\overline{U}_{t}\overline{f}_{i}, \overline{f}_{j}) = \int_{\Omega} \langle \overline{A}(t, (w, u)) \sqrt{\frac{d\overline{\mu}_{t}}{d\overline{\mu}}}(w, u) \overline{f}_{i}(\underline{f}_{-t}(w, u)),$$

$$\overline{f}_{j}(w, u) \rangle d\overline{\mu}(w, u)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} \langle A([t+u], w) \sqrt{\frac{d\mu[t+u]}{d\mu}}(w),$$

$$f_{i}(S^{-[t+u]}w), f_{j}(w) \rangle d\mu(w) d\lambda(u)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} (U^{[t+u]}f_{i}, f_{j}) d\lambda(u)$$

2) If the measures  $\bar{\nu}_i$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  are defined by  $\bar{\nu}_i(\cdot) = (\bar{\mathbb{E}}(\cdot)\bar{\mathbf{f}}_i, \bar{\mathbf{f}}_i)$ ,

0 if  $i \neq j$ .

then  $\bar{\nu}_i = \bar{\nu}_j$  ,  $1 \le i, j \le n$ .

3) The closed linear span of  $\left\{\overline{U}_t\ f_i: t\in\mathbb{R}\ ,\ i=1,2,\cdots,n\right\}$  is  $L^2(\overline{\Omega},\mathbb{H},\overline{\mu})$ . For, let  $h\in L^2(\overline{\Omega},\mathbb{H},\overline{\mu})$  be such that  $(\overline{U}_t\ \overline{f}_i\ ,\ h)=0$  for all  $t\in\mathbb{R}$  and  $i=1,2,\cdots,n$ . Let m be an integer;  $t_0$ ,  $s_0$  real numbers such that  $m\leq t_0 < s_0 \leq m+1$ . Then,

$$0 = ((\overline{U}_{t_0} - \overline{U}_{s_0})\overline{f_i}, h)$$

$$= \int_{\Omega_0}^{1} \left\{ \langle A([t_0 + u], w) \sqrt{\frac{d\mu[t_0 + u]}{d\mu}(w)} f_i(s^{-[t_0 + u]}w), h(w, u) \rangle - \langle A([s_0 + u], w) \sqrt{\frac{d\mu[s_0 + u]}{d\mu}(w)} f_i(s^{-[s_0 + u]}w), h(w, u) \rangle \right\}$$

$$= \langle A([u], w) \sqrt{\frac{d\mu[s_0 + u]}{d\mu}(w)} f_i(s^{-[s_0 + u]}w), h(w, u) \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} d\lambda (u) \left\{ \int_{\alpha} \left( A(m+1,w) \sqrt{\frac{d\mu_{m+1}}{d\mu}}(w) f_{i}(S^{-(m+1)}w), h(w,u) \right) - \left( A(m,w) \sqrt{\frac{d\mu_{m}}{d\mu}}(w) f_{i}(S^{-m}w), h(w,u) \right) d\mu(w) \right\}$$

$$= \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} ((U^{m+1}f_{i}, h_{u}) - (U^{m}f_{i}, h_{u})) d\lambda(u),$$

where  $\alpha = m+1-s_0$ ,  $\beta = m+1-t_0$  and  $h_u$  is the  $u^{th}$  section of h. Varying  $t_0$  and  $s_0$ , this is true for all  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  with  $0 \le \alpha < \beta < 1$ . Therefore,

$$(U^{m+1}f_i, h_u) = (U^mf_i, h_u) \quad \lambda \text{ a.e. } u \in [0,1).$$

Or, 
$$(U^{m}f_{i}, h_{u}) = (U^{o}f_{i}, h_{u}) \quad \lambda \text{ a.e. } u \in [0,1).$$

This is true for all i=1,2,...,n. Therefore,

1), 2) and 3) prove that  $\overline{E}$  is of uniform multiplicity n.

Q. E. D.

In [19] Mackey introduces a generalization of the concept of a flow built under a function. His generalization of a flow built under a constant function as as follows:

Let H be a closed subgroup of a locally compact second countable group G, and let S be an H-space.

SXG can be made and HXG-space by:

 $(h,g)(s,x) = (hs,g^{-1}xh), (h,g) \in H \times G, (s,x) \in S \times G.$ The action of  $\{e\} \times G$  on  $S \times G$  commutes with the action of  $H \times \{e\}$  on  $S \times G$ . Therefore, we get an action of G on the  $H \times \{e\}$  orbit space  $S \times G$  of  $S \times G$ . This is

Mackey's generalization of a flow built under a constant function.

Let C be a Borel section of G with respect to the closed subgroup H. We assume, without loss of generality, that the identity e  $\varepsilon$  C. It can be shown that  $S \times G$  with the quotient Borel structure is Borel isomorphic to  $\overline{S} = S \times C$ . The action of G on  $S \times G$  when taken to  $\overline{S}$  becomes:

(4.3)  $g(s,c) = ([cg]s, \langle cg \rangle)$ . (See section 3 of chapter I).

Let  $\mu$  be a finite measure on S, quasi-invariant under the action of H, and let  $\nu$  be a finite measure on  $G_H$ , quasi-invariant under the natural action of G on  $G_H$ . Then  $\overline{\mu} = \mu \times \nu$  on  $\overline{S}$  is quasi-invariant under the action G on G and G on G

(4.4) 
$$\frac{d\overline{\mu}g}{d\overline{\mu}}(s,c) = \frac{d\mu \lceil cg \rceil}{d\mu}(s) , \overline{\mu} \text{ a.e. } (s,c).$$

Let A be an (H,S) cocycle. Define  $\overline{A}$  on  $G \times \overline{S}$  by:

(4.5) 
$$\overline{A}(g, (s,c)) = A([eg], s).$$

 $\overline{A}$  is a (G ,  $\overline{S}$ ) cocycle. This can be verified by using the fact that for  $g_1$  ,  $g_2$  ,  $g_3$   $\epsilon$  G,

$$[g_1g_2g_3] = [g_1g_2][g_1g_2]g_3$$

Also, any strict  $(G, \overline{S})$  cocycle is cohomologous to a  $(G, \overline{S})$  cocycle extended from an (H, S) cocycle. For, let B be a strict  $(G, \overline{S})$  cocycle. Let  $A_O$  be the (H, S) cocycle defined by:

$$A_0(h,s) = B(h,(s,e)).$$

efine the Borel function  $\rho$  on  $\overline{S}$  by:

$$P(s,c) = B(c, (s,e)).$$

Let A be the (G,  $\overline{S}$ ) cocycle (cohomologous (0) to B) defined by:

$$A(g,(s,c)) = O(s,c) B(g,(s,c)) p^*(g(s,c)).$$

Then,

$$A(g,(s,c)) = B(c,(s,e))B(g,(s,c))B^*(\langle cg \rangle,([cg]s,e))$$
  
=  $B(cg,(s,e))B^*(\langle cg \rangle,([cg]s,e))$ 

= 
$$B([cg], (s,e)) = A_o([cg], s)$$
  
=  $\overline{A}_o(g, (s,c))$ .

Thus, B is cohomologous to  $\overline{\mathbf{A}}_{\mathbf{0}}$  .

In chapter III, we shall consider in more detail, a particular case of a general flow built under a constant function.

# 5. Strict versions of cocycles.

Let  $\mathbb{N}^n$  act on a space  $\Omega$ . Since  $\mathbb{N}^n$  is countable, every  $(\mathbb{N}^n$ ,  $\Omega)$  cocycle has a strict version. Let A be an  $(\mathbb{N}^n$ ,  $\Omega)$  strict cocycle. A is determined by a functions  $f_1$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $f_n$  where

$$f_{i}(\cdot) = A(e_{i}, \cdot) = A((0, \cdot \cdot \cdot, 0, 1, 0, \cdot \cdot \cdot, 0), \cdot)$$

where 1 occurs in the i<sup>th</sup> position. Further  $f_i$ ,  $f_j$  satisfy

(5.1) 
$$f_{i}(w)f_{j}(e_{i}w) = f_{j}(w)f_{i}(e_{j}w)$$
.

Conversely, if we are given n measurable  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\underline{H})$  valued functions  $f_1$ , ...,  $f_n$  satisfying the equations (5.1), then we can get an  $(\mathbb{N}^n, \Omega)$  cocycle by setting  $A(e_i, w) = f_i(w)$ .

 $[0,1)^n$  is a section of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with respect to  $\mathbb{N}^n$ . So, by methods described at the end of section 4, an action of  $\mathbb{N}^n$  on a space  $\Omega$  will give rise to an action of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  on  $\overline{\Omega} = \Omega \times [0,1)^n$ . An  $(\mathbb{N}^n,\Omega)$  cocycle A extends to an  $(\mathbb{R}^n,\overline{\Omega})$  cocycle  $\overline{A}$  (by formula (4.5)) and every strict  $(\mathbb{R}^n,\overline{\Omega})$  cocycle is cohomologous to a cocycle extended from an  $(\mathbb{N}^n,\Omega)$  cocycle. Finally, by methods similar to that of theorem 2.3, one can prove that every  $(\mathbb{R}^n,\overline{\Omega})$  cocycle has a strict version. Thus, all  $(\mathbb{R}^n,\overline{\Omega})$  cocycles can be described in terms of  $(\mathbb{N}^n,\Omega)$  cocycles.

Now let us consider the special case when  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with its usual topology is imbedded continuously and in a one-one way in a locally compact second countable abelian group B and that  $\overline{\mathbb{R}^n}=B$ . Then the dual  $\widehat{B}$  of B is dense in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We can assume, without loss of generality, that the subgroup  $Z^n$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  generated by  $\left\{(2\pi,0,\cdots,0),\cdots,(0,\cdots,0,2\pi)\right\}$  is contained in  $\widehat{B}$ . Let K be the annihilator of the closed subgroup  $Z^n$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then,  $K \cap \mathbb{R}^n = \mathbb{N}^n$  and  $\overline{\mathbb{N}^n} = K$ . Also, one can show that the action of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  on B is isomorphic to the action of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  on B is isomorphic

viz.

$$(t_1, \dots, t_n)(x, (u_1, \dots, u_n)) = (([t_1+u_1], \dots, [t_n+u_n])x, (\langle t_1+u_1 \rangle, \dots, \langle t_n+u_n \rangle)).$$

Thus, every  $(\mathbb{R}^n$ , B) cocycle has a strict version and they can be described in terms of  $(\mathbb{N}^n$ , K) cocycles. The next theorem says that in some more cases we can get strict versions of cocycles.

5.1. Theorem. Let H be a locally compact second countable abelian group of the form  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{K}$  where K is a compact abelian group. Let H be imbedded continuously and in a one-one way in a locally compact second countable abelian group G and let the image of U be dense in G. Then every  $(H,G,\underline{\mathbb{U}}(\mathbb{H}))$  cocycle has a strict version.

<u>Proof</u>: We assume  $H \subseteq G$ .

Since K is compact in H, K is a compact subgroup of G and so closed in G. Hence by lemma 4.1, every (K , G) cocycle is a coboundary. Since H is dense in G,  $^{\rm H}/_{\rm K}={\mathbb R}^{\rm n}$  is dense in  $^{\rm G}/_{\rm K}$ .

Let  $\sigma$  be a measure on G, quasi-invariant under the action of H. Obviously,  $\sigma$  is quasi-invariant under the action of K on G. Therefore,  $\sigma$  is equivalent to a measure of the form  $({}^{\lambda} \times \mu) \circ {}^{-1}$ , where  ${}^{\lambda}$  is the Haar measure on K,  $\mu$  is some measure on  ${}^{G}/_{K}$  and K is the Borel isomorphism between G and  $K \times {}^{G}/_{K}$  defined in section 3 of chapter I. Since  $\sigma$  is quasi-invariant under  ${}^{R}$ , the measure  $\mu$  on  ${}^{G}/_{K}$  is quasi-invariant under the action of  ${}^{R}$  on  ${}^{G}/_{K}$ .

Let A be a (H,G, $\underline{\underline{U}}$ (H)) cocycle relative to  $\sigma$ .

We define a cocycle as in section 6 of chapter I. Then,

is a (K, G) cocycle and so is a coboundary.

Let this coboundary be given by the measurable function  $\rho^*: G \longrightarrow \underline{\underline{U}}(H)$ ,

 $A(k,x) = \rho^*(x) \rho(x+k)$ ,  $k \in K$ ,  $x \in G$ .

Define the (H , G) cocycle B as follows:

$$B((r,k), x) = o(x) A((r,k), x) \rho^*(x+(r,k)),$$
  
 $r \in \mathbb{R}^n, k \in K, x \in G.$ 

An easy computation shows that, for fixed  $r \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and j,  $k \in K$ ,

B((r,k), x+j) = B((r,e), x) = B(r,x)a.e.  $x \in G$ .

DF compression, OCR, web optimization using a watermarked evaluation copy of CVISION PDFCompressor

Therefore, for fixed  $r \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , the function  $B(r,\cdot)$  on G satisfies the conditions of lemma 3.1 of chapter I. Hence, there is a measurable function  $B'(r,\cdot)$  on G/K such that,

 $B(r,x) = B'(r, \pi_K(x)) \quad \text{a. e. } x \in G$  (where  $\pi_K : G \longrightarrow {}^G/_K$  is the quotient map). From the relation: for every  $r_1$ ,  $r_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

 $B(r_1+r_2, x) = B(r_1, x)B(r_2, x+r_1)$  a. e.  $x \in G$ , we get,

 $B'(r_1+r_2, \tilde{x}) = B'(r_1, \tilde{x}) \ B'(r_2, \tilde{x}+r_1) \ a.e. \ \tilde{x} \in G/_K$ . Thus, we get an  $(\mathbb{R}^n, G/_K)$  cocycle B', and so it has a strict version, say  $B_o'$ . Define  $B_o$  on  $H \times G$  by:  $B_o((r,k), x) = B_o'(r, \pi_K(x)).$ 

Then  $B_0$  is a strict (H , G) cocycle which is almost everywhere equal to B. The given cocycle A is cohomologous to B and so A itself has a strict version.

Q. E. D.

#### CHAPTER III

SYSTEMS OF IMPRIMITIVITY ON LOCALLY COMPACT
AEDLIAN GROUPS WITH DENSE ACTIONS.

#### 1. Pairs of groups.

By a pair  $(\Gamma, R)$  we will mean that.

- (i) and R are locally compact second countable abelian groups, and
- (ii) there exists a one-one, continuous homomorphism  $\phi$  of  $\Gamma$  into R such that  $\phi(\Gamma)$  is dense in R.

Given a pair ( $\lceil$ , R) there arises another pair in a natural way. Consider the dual groups  $\stackrel{\frown}{\cap}$  and  $\stackrel{\frown}{R}$  and the map  $\stackrel{\frown}{\phi}: \stackrel{\frown}{R} \longrightarrow \stackrel{\frown}{\cap}$  defined by:

 $\langle x, \hat{\varphi}(\hat{y}) \rangle = \langle \varphi(x), \hat{y} \rangle, x \in \Gamma, \hat{y} \in \hat{R}.$ 

It can be shown that  $\hat{\phi}$  is a one-one, continuous homomorphism of  $\hat{R}$  into  $\hat{\Gamma}$  and that  $\hat{\phi}(\hat{R})$  is dense in  $\hat{\Gamma}$ . The pair  $(\hat{R}, \hat{\Gamma})$  is called the <u>dual pair</u> of  $(\hat{\Gamma}, R)$ .

Remark: It is convenient sometimes to identify  $\lceil$  with  $\phi(\lceil)$  and thus regard  $\lceil$  as a dense subgroup of R. The topology of  $\lceil$  is not the one induced from R, but it is such that the inclusion map of  $\lceil$  into R is continuous.

1.1. Example: Take R to be the group R of real numbers with the usual topology, and  $\lceil$  to be any countable dense subgroup of R, with the discrete topology. Let  $\varphi$  be the inclusion map of  $\lceil$  into R. Then  $(\lceil , \mathbb{R})$  is a pair. R is densely imbedded in the compact group  $\lceil$  and  $(\lceil R, \lceil )$  is the dual pair.

Let (U, P) be a system of imprimitivity on the pair  $(\lceil, R)$ ,  $(\lceil acts \text{ on } R \text{ through translation})$ , acting in a separable Hilbert space  $\mathbb{H}$ . Apply Stone's theorem to U to yield a spectral measure Q on  $\bigcap$  and to P to yield a representation V of  $\widehat{R}$ :

$$(1.1) \begin{cases} U_g = \int \langle -y, g \rangle dQ(y), & g \in [], \\ V_h = \int \langle x, h \rangle dP(x), & h \in \widehat{R}. \end{cases}$$

Since (U,P) is a  $(\lceil, R)$  system of imprimitivity, we have

$$U_g^{-1} V_h U_g = \int_{R} \langle x, h \rangle d(U_g^{-1}P(x) U_g)$$

$$= \int_{R} \langle x, h \rangle dP(x+\varphi(g))$$

PDF compression, OCR, web collection (g) using in pater parked evaluation copy of CVISION PDFCompres

whence,

$$v_h^{-1} v_g^{-1} v_h = \langle -\varphi(g), h \rangle v_g^{-1}$$
  
=  $\langle -g, \widehat{\varphi}(h) \rangle v_g^{-1}$ 

where  $\hat{\phi}$  is the dual map from  $\hat{R}$  into  $\hat{\Gamma}$  . From (1.1) we have,

$$V_{h}^{-1} U_{g}^{-1} V_{h} = \int_{c}^{c} y , g d(V_{h}^{-1}Q(y) V_{h})$$

$$= \int_{c}^{c} y - \hat{\phi}(h) , g dQ(y)$$

$$= \int_{c}^{c} y , g dQ(y + \hat{\phi}(h)) .$$

Therefore,  $V_h^{-1}Q(D)$   $V_h = Q(D+\hat{\phi}(h))$  for each Borel set  $D \subseteq \hat{\Gamma}$  and for each  $h \in \hat{R}$ . Hence (V,Q) is a system of imprimitivity of  $(\hat{R},\hat{\Gamma})$  acting in H. We shall call (V,Q) the <u>dual system</u> of (U,P). We observe that a subspace of H reduces (U,P) if and only if it reduces (V,Q).

Remarks. The above definitions and results are taken from Bagchi [3]. Dual systems of imprimitivity first appear in the work of Stone [23] and von Neumann, and in general group context in the work of Mackey [17].

Pair, dual pair and dual systems of imprimitivity appear, somewhat implicitly, in the work of Helson and Lowden-slager [14]. Dual pairs were explicitly considered by de Leeuw and Glicksberg [6].

# 2. The pairs $(\lceil / \rceil_0, R / \lceil_0)$ and $(\lceil , R)$ .

Let  $(\lceil, R)$  be a pair where we regard  $\lceil$  as a dense subgroup of R and the map  $\varphi$  is the inclusion map of  $\lceil$  into R. Let  $\lceil_0 \subseteq \lceil$  be a closed subgroup of R.

Then  $\lceil_0$  is closed in  $\lceil$  as well. Further,  $(\lceil/\lceil_0, R\rceil\rceil)$  is a pair which we call the quotient pair. We fix a Borel section Q of R with respect to  $\lceil_0$ . Then every element  $x \in R$  can uniquely be written in the form

$$x = \gamma_0 + c$$
 ,  $\gamma_0 \epsilon$   $\lceil 0 \rceil$  ,  $c \epsilon Q$ .

We denote (see section 3 of chapter I)  $\gamma_0 = [x]$  and  $c = \langle x \rangle$ . Further, R is Borel isomorphic to  $\frac{R}{\int_0^x \int_0^x |x|^2} = \frac{R}{\int_0^x |x|^2} = \frac{R}{\int_0^x \int_0^x |x|^2} = \frac{R}{\int_0^x |x|^2}$ 

(2.1) 
$$\xi(\bar{c}, \gamma_0) = c + \gamma_0$$
,  $c \in Q$ ,  $\gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0$ ,

where  $\bar{c}$  denotes the coset of  $\int_0^{\infty}$  to which c belongs. As in (3.2) of chapter I, we define a group operation  $\div$  on Q by:

$$c_1 + c_2 = (c_1 + c_2)$$
.

With this operation Q is group isomorphic to  $^R/_{\text{to}}$ , the isomorphism being c  $\longrightarrow$   $\bar{\text{c}}$ .

2.1. Example. Let R=R,  $\Gamma=$  a countable dense subgroup of R, with discrete topology, and assume that  $2\pi$   $\epsilon$   $\Gamma$ . Let  $\Gamma_0$  be the cyclic subgroup generated by  $2\pi$ . Then  $(\Gamma/\Gamma_0, R/\Gamma_0)$  is a pair,  $R/\Gamma_0$  being the circle group and  $\Gamma/\Gamma_0$  a countable dense subgroup of it with discrete topology. The interval  $\Gamma(0,2\pi)$  is a section of  $\Gamma(0,2\pi)$  with respect to  $\Gamma(0,2\pi)$ .

If  $\nu$  is a measure on  $\frac{R}{\rho}$  and  $\lambda_0$  is the Haar measure on  $\frac{1}{\rho}$ , then  $\frac{1}{\nu}$  shall denote the measure  $(\nu \times \lambda_0) \circ \xi^{-1}$  on R. We will need the following lemmas.

2.2. Lemma. Let  $\nu$  be a finite measure on  $^R/_{\bar{0}}$  quasi-invariant under the action of  $\bar{\nu}$ . Then  $\bar{\nu}$  is quasi-invariant under the action of  $\bar{\nu}$  on  $\bar{R}$ .

Proof! Let A be a measurable subset of R such that  $\tilde{\nu}(A) = 0$ . So,  $(\nu \times \lambda_0)(\xi^{-1}(A)) = 0$ . Therefore, for  $\nu$  a.e.  $\bar{c} \in \mathbb{R}/\Gamma_0$  (  $c \in Q$ ),  $\lambda_0((\xi^{-1}(A))_{\bar{c}}) = 0$ ,

where 
$$(\xi^{-1}(A))_{\overline{c}}$$
 is the  $\overline{c}$  <sup>th</sup> section of  $\xi^{-1}(A)$ .

Let  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . Then  $\gamma = [\gamma] + \langle \gamma \rangle$  where  $[\gamma] \in \Gamma_0$  and  $\langle \gamma \rangle \in \mathbb{Q}$ . Observe that  $\langle \overline{\gamma} \rangle \in \overline{\Gamma}_0$ . For any  $c \in \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $(\xi^{-1}(A+\gamma))_{\overline{c}} = \{ \gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0 : (\overline{c}, \gamma_0) \in \xi^{-1}(A+\gamma) \}$ 

$$= \{ \gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0 : c+\gamma_0 \in A+\gamma \}$$

$$= \{ \gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0 : \langle c-\langle \gamma \rangle \rangle + \gamma_0 + [c-\gamma] \in A \}$$

$$= \{ \gamma_0' - [c-\gamma] \in \Gamma_0 : \langle c-\langle \gamma \rangle \rangle + \gamma_0' \in A \}$$

$$= (\xi^{-1}(A))_{\overline{c}} - (\overline{\gamma}) - [c-\gamma].$$

Now,
$$\widetilde{\nu}(A+\gamma) = (\nu \times \lambda_0) (\xi^{-1}(A+\gamma))$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda_0 (\xi^{-1}(A+\gamma))_{\overline{c}} \nu(d\overline{c})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda_0 (\xi^{-1}(A))_{\overline{c}} - [c-\gamma] \nu(d\overline{c})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda_0 (\xi^{-1}(A))_{\overline{c}} - [c-\gamma] \nu(d\overline{c})$$

= 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda_{o}((\xi^{-1}(A))_{\overline{c}-\langle \overline{\gamma} \rangle}) \nu(d\overline{c})$$
, since  $\lambda_{o}$  is the

Haar measure on ,

= 0 since 
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda_{0}((\xi^{-1}(A))_{\overline{c}}) \nu(d\overline{c}) = 0$$
 and  $\nu$  is

quasi-invariant under the action of  $\Gamma/\Gamma_0$ . Q. E. D.

2.3. Lemma. Any measure on R quasi-invariant under  $\tilde{\nu}$  is equivalent to a measure of the form  $\tilde{\nu}$  for some measure  $\tilde{\nu}$  on  $\tilde{\kappa}$  quasi-invariant under  $\tilde{\kappa}$ .

Proof: Let  $\mu$  be a measure on R quasi-invariant under Let  $\pi: R \longrightarrow {R \choose 0}$  be the natural homomorphism and put  $\nu = \mu \circ \pi^{-1}$ . Then  $\nu$  on  ${R \choose 0}$  is quasi-invariant under the action of  ${R \choose 0}$  and by lemma 3.1 of Chapter I, is equivalent to  $\widehat{\nu} = (\nu \times \lambda_0) \circ \xi^{-1}$ .

Let  $\nu$  be a measure on  $R/\Gamma_o$  quasi-invariant under the action of  $\Gamma/\Gamma_o$ , and let A be a  $(\Gamma/\Gamma_o, R/\Gamma_o, \Psi(\mathbb{H}))$  cocycle relative to  $\nu$ . Define A on  $\Gamma \times R$  by:

Q. E. D.

PDF compression, OCR, web optimization using a watermarked evaluation copy of CVISION PDFCompresso

(2.2) 
$$\widetilde{A}(\gamma, x) = A(\gamma \lceil_0, x \rceil_0).$$

Then  $\tilde{A}$  is a ( $\Gamma$ , R,  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\underline{H})$ ) cocycle relative to  $\hat{\Sigma}$ .

2.4. Theorem. Every ( $\lceil$ , R,  $\underline{\underline{U}}$ ( $\mathbb{H}$ )) cocycle relative to  $\overset{\sim}{\nu}$  is cohomologous to a cocycle  $\overset{\sim}{A}$  for some ( $\lceil/\lceil_{0}, \frac{\mathbb{R}}{\lceil_{0}}\rceil$ ,  $\underline{\underline{U}}$ ( $\mathbb{H}$ )) cocycle  $\mathbb{A}$  relative to  $\overset{\sim}{\nu}$ . Two

 $(\lceil / \rceil_0, \frac{R}{\rceil_0}, \underline{U}(\mathbf{H}))$  cocycles  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are cohomologous if and only if the corresponding  $(\lceil , R)$  cocycles  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are cohomologous.

Proof: Let B be a ( $\lceil$ , R,  $\underline{\underline{U}}$ ( $\underline{\underline{H}}$ )) cocycle relative to  $\overset{\sim}{\nu}$ . By our definition of a cocycle,  $\overset{\sim}{B}$  will be a ( $\lceil_{0}$ , R) cocycle relative to  $\overset{\sim}{\nu}$ . Since  $\lceil_{0}$  is closed in R, by lemma 4.2 of chapter I,  $\overset{\sim}{B}$  is a coboundary.

Hence  $B_{\bigcap X^R}$  can be taken to be strict; i.e.,

$$B(\gamma_0^1 + \gamma_0^2, x) = B(\gamma_0^1, x) B(\gamma_0^2, x + \gamma_0^1) \text{ for all}$$

$$x \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \gamma_0^1, \quad \gamma_0^2 \in \Gamma_0.$$

Define the  $\widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}}$  - measurable map o on R by:

$$o(x) = B([x], \langle x \rangle).$$

Let  $B_1$  be the  $(\Gamma, R)$  cocycle defined by:

$$B_1(\gamma, x) = o(x) B(\gamma, x)o^*(\gamma+x).$$

B<sub>1</sub> is cohomologous (
$$\rho$$
) to B. If h, h'  $\varepsilon$   $\int_0^{\infty}$  and  $\gamma \varepsilon$   $\varepsilon$ ,

B<sub>1</sub>( $\gamma$ +h , x+h') =  $\rho$  (x+h')B( $\gamma$ +h , x+h') $\rho$ \*( $\gamma$ +x+h+h')

= B([x]+h', $\langle x \rangle$ )B( $\gamma$ +h,x+h')B\*([ $\gamma$ +x]+h+h', $\langle \gamma$ +x $\rangle$ )

= B([x], $\langle x \rangle$ )B(h',x)B( $\gamma$ +h,x+h')B\*(h+h',  $\gamma$ +x )B\*([ $\gamma$ +x], $\langle \gamma$ +x $\rangle$ )

= B([x], $\langle x \rangle$ )B( $\gamma$ +h+h', x)B\*(h+h',  $\gamma$ +x)B\*([ $\gamma$ +x], $\langle \gamma$ +x $\rangle$ )

 $\widetilde{\nu}$  a. e.  $x \varepsilon R$ .

= B([x], $\langle x \rangle$ ) B( $\gamma$ , x) B\*([ $\gamma$ +x], $\langle \gamma$ +x $\rangle$ )  $\widetilde{\nu}$  a.e.  $x \varepsilon R$ .

So there is a cocycle A on  $(\lceil / \lceil \rceil, \rceil \rceil)$  relative to  $\nu$  such that for each  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ ,

 $B_1(\gamma, x) = \widetilde{A}(\gamma, x) \widetilde{\nu}$  a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ .

=  $B_1(\gamma, x)$   $\Im$  a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Hence, the given cocycle B and A are cohomologous.

Let two ( ,  $^R$ / $_O$ , and  $^R$ / $_O$  are cohomologous (  $^R$ ) where  $\rho(x) = \rho_0(x)$ ,  $^R$ / $_O$ 0,  $^R$ / $_O$ 0

In particular, for  $\gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0$ , we have,

 $\tilde{\mathbf{I}} = P(\mathbf{x}) P^*(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{y}_0) \quad \tilde{\mathbf{v}} \quad \text{a.e. } \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}.$ 

Or, for each  $\gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0$ ,  $\rho(x) = \rho(x+\gamma_0)$   $\hat{\nu}$  a.e.  $x \in R$ . So, by lemma 3.2 of chapter I, there is a measurable function  $\rho_0$  on  $R/\Gamma_0$  such that  $\rho(x) = \rho_0(x\Gamma_0)$   $\hat{\nu}$  a.e.  $x \in R$ .  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are cohomologous  $(P_0)$ . Q. E. D.

Let (U,F) be a system of imprimitivity based on ( , R/ ) acting in a separable Hilbert space H. Then there exists invariant measure classes  $\mathcal{E}_{\infty}$  ,  $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$  ,  $\mathcal{C}_2$  , ... and  $\underline{\underline{U}}(\mathbb{H}_n)$  cocycles  $\mathbb{A}_n$  relative to  $\mathcal{C}_n$  ,  $n = \infty$ , 1, 2, ..., (where  $\mathbb{H}_n = \mathbb{C}^n$  if  $n = 1, 2, \cdots$  and  $\mathbb{H}_{\infty} = \ell^2$ ) such that (U,F) is equivalent to the concrete system of imprimitivity given by  $\mathcal{E}_{\infty}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_{1}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_{2}$ ,  $\cdots$  and cocycles  $A_{\infty}$ ,  $A_1$ ,  $A_2$ , ... By  $(\widetilde{U}, \widetilde{F})$  we shall mean the ( $\lceil$ , R) system of imprimitivity given by  $\tilde{\nu}_{\infty}$ ,  $\tilde{\nu}_{1}$ ,  $\tilde{\nu}_{2}$ ,  $(\nu_n \in \mathcal{G}_n, n = \infty, 1, 2, \cdots)$  and cocycles  $\tilde{A}_{\infty}, \tilde{A}_1$ ,  $\stackrel{\textstyle \sim}{\mathbb{A}}_2$ ,  $\cdots$  . In view of theorem 5.2 of chapter I and theorem 2.4, we see that any ( | R) system of imprimitivity acting in a separable Hilbert space is equivalent to a  $(\lceil , R)$  system of imprimitivity  $(\stackrel{\smile}{U}, \stackrel{\smile}{F})$  for some ( / / , R / / ) system of imprimitivity (U,F).

3. The pairs dual to  $(\lceil / \rceil_0, \lceil R / \rceil_0)$  and  $(\lceil / \rceil_1, \lceil R \rceil_1)$ .

Now, let us consider the dual pairs ( $\binom{R}{ \cap_0}$ , ( $\lceil f \rangle$ ) and ( $\widehat{R}$ ,  $\widehat{f}$ ). Let us put  $\widehat{R} = S$ , and  $\widehat{f} = B$  and ( $\lceil f \rangle \cap_0 = K$ , the annihilator of  $\lceil f \rangle \cap_0 = K \cap S$ , the annihilator of  $\lceil f \rangle \cap_0 = K \cap S$ , the annihilator of  $\lceil f \rangle \cap_0 = K \cap S$ , the annihilator of  $\lceil f \rangle \cap_0 = K \cap S$ , and the pair dual to ( $\lceil f \rangle \cap_0 = K \cap S$ ) is ( $\lceil f \rangle \cap_0 = K \cap S$ ) is ( $\lceil f \rangle \cap_0 = K \cap S$ ).

3.1. Lemma. Any Borel section of S with respect to  $K \cap S$  is also a Borel section of B with respect to K.

<u>Proof</u>: Let C be a Borel section of S with respect to KNS. By Kuratowski's theorem (p. 139 [18]) C is a Borel subset of B. Each coset of K can contain atmost one element from C, for if  $c_1K = c_2K$ , then  $c_1c_2^{-1} \in K \cap S$ , and so  $c_1 = c_2$ . Now, the relative topology of  $\Gamma_0$  in  $\Gamma$  is the same as the relative topology of  $\Gamma_0$  in R. So,  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_0$  are topologically isomorphic, both being the dual of  $\Gamma_0$ . So, given b  $\Gamma_0$  be there is  $\Gamma_0$  such that

(bK ,  $\gamma_0$ ) = (c(K $\Omega$ S) ,  $\gamma_0$ ) for all  $\gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0$  .

That is,  $(b, \gamma_0) = (c, \gamma_0)$  or  $(b^{-1}c, \gamma_0) = 1$  for all  $\gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0$ . Hence,  $b^{-1}c \in K$  or  $c \in bK$ . So every coset of K contains an element of C. Therefore, C is a Borel section of B with respect to K.

Q. E. D.

Throughout the rest of this chapter, C will stand for a fixed Borel section of S with respect to KNS. natural one-one correspondence  $\alpha: c \longrightarrow \bar{c}$  between and S/Kns is a Borel isomorphism, and a measure on S/KOS can be considered a measure on C and vice-versa. If  $\mu$  is a finite measure on  $^{S}/_{K\bigcap S}$  , its Fourier transform  $\hat{\mu}$  is a function on  $(S/KOS) = I_0$ . However, when considered as a measure on C, its Fourier transform is a function on R which when restricted to  $\int_0^{\infty}$  is  $\hat{\mu}$ , i.e.,  $\mu \circ \alpha = \hat{\mu}$ . Haar measure m on  $^{
m S}/_{
m K}$  of solutions of the carried over into a measure on C which we denote by dc. This measure is invariant under the group operation on C defined by  $c_1 + c_2 = \langle c_1 + c_2 \rangle$ . g  $\epsilon L^2(S/_{K \cap S}, m)$ , then g has a Fourier-Plancherel transform g defined on o . If we regard g as a function on C, i.e., if we look at  $h = g \circ \alpha$ , then

h has a Fourier-Plancherel transform  $\hat{h}$  defined on R, which when restricted to  $\Gamma_0$  coincides with  $\hat{g}$  a.e.  $\hat{h}$  is defined by:

$$(3.1) \quad h(x+\gamma_0) = \int_C \langle x+\gamma_0, c \rangle h(c) dc, \quad x \in \mathbb{Q}, \quad \gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0.$$

$$= \int_C \langle \gamma_0, c \rangle \langle x, c \rangle h(c) dc.$$

(Q is a section of R with respect to  $\Gamma_0$ ).

Let  $\mathcal{V}$  be a complex-valued measure on  $R/\Gamma_0$  and let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{V}} = (\mathcal{V} \times \lambda_0) \circ \mathcal{E}^{-1}$  (as defined in section 2). Let  $\Gamma_0$  be a  $\Gamma_0$  Let  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_0$  be a complex valued measure on  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_0$  let  $\Gamma_0$  be a complex valued measure on  $\Gamma_0$  and  $\Gamma_0$  let

(3.2) 
$$f(x+\gamma_0) = \hat{h}(x+\gamma_0) = \int_C \langle x+\gamma_0, c \rangle h(c) dc$$

xεQ, γ<sub>0</sub> ε Γ<sub>0</sub>.

Let  $g \in \Gamma$ , g = u + [g] where  $u = \langle g \rangle$ . Define the function  $F_g$  on R by:

$$(3.3) F_g(x+\gamma_0) = f(x+\gamma_0) \overline{f(x+\gamma_0-g)}.$$

Let us calculate the Fourier transform of the measure  ${\tt F}_g d \, \widehat{\! \nu}$  .

3.2. Lemma. For each t  $\epsilon$  S,

$$\widehat{F_g} \stackrel{\circ}{d} \widehat{\nu} (t) = \int \widehat{\nu}([t+e]) \langle g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle h(\langle t+e \rangle) \overline{h}(e) de$$

## Proof:

$$\int_{C} \hat{\nu}([t+e]) \langle g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle h(\langle t+e \rangle) \bar{h}(e) de$$

$$= \int_{C} \left\{ \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, [t+e] \rangle \nu(dx) \right\} \langle g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle h(\langle t+e \rangle) \bar{h}(e) de$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x, -\langle t+e \rangle \rangle \langle g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle \cdot h(\langle t+e \rangle) de \nu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x-g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle \bar{h}(\langle t+e \rangle) de \nu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x-g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle \bar{h}(\langle t+e \rangle) de \nu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x-g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle \bar{h}(\langle t+e \rangle) de \nu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x-g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle \bar{h}(\langle t+e \rangle) de \nu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x-g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle \bar{h}(\langle t+e \rangle) de \nu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x-g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle \bar{h}(\langle t+e \rangle) de \nu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x-g, \langle t+e \rangle \rangle \bar{h}(\langle t+e \rangle) \bar{h}(e) de \nu(dx)$$

$$= \int_{R/\Gamma_{0}} \langle x, t \rangle \int_{C} \langle x, e \rangle \bar{h}(e) \langle x, e$$

Remark: The author is indebted to Professor M. G. Nadkarni for discussions in proving the above lemma. In particular, the idea of using Plancherel theorem is due to him.

Suppose  $h \in L^2(C,dc)$  is such that  $h | \Gamma$  is non-vanishing  $\lambda_0$  a.e. Then by Wiener's theorem,  $\{h(\langle \cdot + c \rangle) : c \in C\}$  spans  $L^2(C,dc)$ . Let V be a measure on  $R | \Gamma$  can be considered a measure on Q. Suppose  $h \in L^2(C,dc)$  is such that the function h is V a.e. non-zero on R. Then by Fubini's theorem, for V a.e.  $y \in Q$ ,  $(\langle y, \cdot \rangle h(\cdot)) | \Gamma$  is non-vanishing  $\lambda_0$  a.e. on  $\Gamma_0$ . Hence, for V a.e.  $y \in Q$ ,  $\{\langle y, \langle \cdot + s \rangle\}$   $h(\langle \cdot + s \rangle)$ :  $s \in S$  spans  $L^2(C,dc)$ . Thus we have:

3.3. Proposition. Suppose  $h \in L^2(C,dc)$  is such that h defined on R by,

 $\hat{h}(x+\gamma_0) = \int_C \langle x+\gamma_0, c \rangle h(c) dc, x \in Q, \gamma_0 \in \Gamma_0,$ 

is non-vanishing  $\tilde{V}$  a.e. on R. Then for V a.e.  $y \in Q$ , the collection  $\{\langle y, \langle \cdot + s \rangle\rangle \mid h(\langle \cdot + s \rangle) : s \in S \}$  spans  $L^2(C,dc)$ .

B is Borel isomorphic to  $^B/_K \times K$ , the isomorphism being  $\eta \colon ^B/_K \times K \longrightarrow B$  defined by:

(3.4) 
$$\eta(\bar{c}, y) = c + y$$
,  $c \in C$ ,  $y \in K$ .

In the same way, S and  $S/K \cap S$  (K \(\Omega\)S) are Borel isomorphic.

Let  $\mu$  be a complex=valued measure (finite) on K, and let  $\lambda$  be the Haar measure on  $\frac{B}{K}$ . Then by  $\bar{\mu}$  we shall mean the measure  $(\mu \times \lambda)$  on B.

3.4. <u>Lemma</u>. Let  $\mu$  be a finite complex-valued measure on K, quasi-invariant under the action of K  $\Pi$  S. Then  $\mu$  is quasi-invariant under the action of  $\Pi$  on  $\Pi$ . Moreover,

(3.5) 
$$\frac{d\overline{\mu}_{S}}{d\overline{\mu}}(y+c) = \frac{d\mu[s+c]}{d\mu}(y) \quad \text{for } (\mu \times \lambda) \text{ a.e. } (y,\overline{c}) \in K \times^{B}/_{K}.$$

Proof: Let D be a Borel subset of B and let s & S.

$$\eta^{-1}(D+s) = \left\{ (y,\overline{c}) \in \mathbb{K} \times^{B} /_{\mathbb{K}} : y+c \in D+s \right\}$$

$$= \left\{ (y+[s+c], \langle \overline{s+c} \rangle) : y+c \in D \right\}$$

$$= \left\{ (y+[s+c], \langle \overline{s+c} \rangle) : (y,\overline{c}) \in \eta^{-1}(D) \right\}.$$

Therefore, 
$$(\eta^{-1}(D+s)) = (\eta^{-1}(D))_{\overline{c}} + [s+c]$$
.

Now,

$$\vec{\mu}_{s}(D) = \vec{\mu}(D+s) = (\mu \times \lambda)(\eta^{-1}(D+s))$$

$$= \int_{B/K} \mu((\eta^{-1}(D+s))_{\overline{c}}) d\lambda(\overline{c})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} \mu((\eta^{-1}(D+s))) \frac{1}{(S+c)} d\lambda(\overline{c}) , \text{ since } \lambda \text{ is the }$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} \mu((\eta^{-1}(D))_{\overline{c}} + [s+c]) d\lambda(\overline{c})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} \mu[s+c] ((\eta^{-1}(D))_{\overline{c}}) d\lambda(\overline{c})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} \mu[s+c] ((\eta^{-1}(D))_{\overline{c}}) d\lambda(\overline{c})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} \mu[s+c] ((\eta^{-1}(D))_{\overline{c}}) d\mu(y) d\lambda(\overline{c})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} (\eta^{-1}(D))_{\overline{c}}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} (\eta^{-1}(D))_{\overline{c}}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} (\eta^{-1}(D))_{\overline{c}}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} (\eta^{-1}(D)) d\mu(x) (y,\overline{c})$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} (\eta^{-1}(D)) d\mu(x) (x = y+c).$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}/K} (\eta^{-1}($$

Let A be a (K\sumboles, K) cocycle relative to  $\mu$ , a measure on K quasi-invariant under the action of K\sumboles. Define  $\overline{A}$  on S\times B by:

(3.6)  $\overline{A}(s, y+c) = A([s+c], y)$ , seS, yeK, ceC. Clearly,  $\overline{A}$  is measurable on SXB. Now, for fixed  $s_1$ ,  $s_2 \in S$ , and  $c \in C$ ,

 $\overline{A}(s_1+s_2, y+c) = A([s_1+s_2+c], y)$   $= A([s_1+c] + [s_2+\langle s_1+c \rangle], y) \quad \text{(by (3.1) of ch. I)}$   $= A([s_1+c], y) A([s_2+\langle s_1+c \rangle], y+[s_1+c]), \mu \text{ a.e. yek.}$ 

 $= \overline{A}(s_1, y+c) \ \overline{A}(s_2, y+s_1+c), \quad \mu \text{ a.e. } y \in K.$  Hence, by Fubini's theorem, for each fixed  $s_1, s_2 \in S$ ,  $\overline{A}(s_1+s_2, x) = \overline{A}(s_1, x) \ \overline{A}(s_2, x+s_1), \quad \overline{\mu} \text{ a.e. } x \in B.$  Therefore,  $\overline{A}$  is an (S,B) cocycle relative to  $\overline{\mu}$ .

If two (KAS, K) cocycles  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  (relative to  $\mu$ ) are cohomologous ( $\rho_0$ ), then the corresponding (S,B) cocycles  $\overline{A}_1$  and  $\overline{A}_2$  are cohomologous ( $\rho$ ) where  $\rho(x) = \rho_0([x])$ .

Remark: For the special case when B is compact and  $\Gamma = \hat{B}$  is a dense subgroup of  $\mathbb{R}$ , the method of obtaining  $\overline{A}$  from a (K  $\cap$  S , K) cocycle A was given by Gamelin in [7].

He considers only scalar cocycles relative to the Haar measure on K.

Notation: Given a  $(K \cap S, K)$  cocycle A we shall call  $\overline{A}$  the Gamelin cocycle obtained from A.

Let (V,E) be a system of imprimitivity on (KNS,K) acting in a separable Hilbert space IH. Then there exists invariant measure classes  $\mathcal{E}_{\infty}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_2$ , ... and  $\underline{\mathbf{y}}(\mathbf{H}_n)$  valued cocycles  $\mathbf{A}_n$  relative to  $\mathbf{\mu}_n$  ( $\mathbf{\mu}_n$   $\mathbf{\epsilon}$   $\mathcal{E}_n$ ,  $\mathbf{n} = \infty, 1, 2, \cdots$ ) such that (V,E) is equivalent to the concrete system of imprimitivity given by  $\mathcal{E}_{\infty}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_2$ , ... and  $\mathbf{A}_{\infty}$ ,  $\mathbf{A}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{A}_2$ , ... ( $\overline{\mathbf{V}}$ ,  $\overline{\mathbf{E}}$ ) will stand for the (S,B) system of imprimitivity given by  $\overline{\mathbf{\mu}}_{\infty}$ ,  $\overline{\mathbf{\mu}}_1$ ,  $\overline{\mathbf{\mu}}_2$ , ... and cocycles  $\overline{\mathbf{A}}_{\infty}$ ,  $\overline{\mathbf{A}}_1$ ,  $\overline{\mathbf{A}}_2$ , ... We call ( $\overline{\mathbf{V}}$ ,  $\overline{\mathbf{E}}$ ) the <u>Gamelin system of imprimitivity</u> obtained from ( $\mathbf{V}$ ,  $\mathbf{E}$ ).

# 4. The Main Theorem.

Let (V,E) be a system of imprimitivity on  $(K \cap S, K)$ :  $(\overline{V}, \overline{E})$  be the Gamelin system of imprimitivity on (S,B) extended from (V,E). Let (U,F) and  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  be the duals of (V,E) and  $(\overline{V},\overline{E})$  respectively. Let  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  be the  $(\lceil \cdot \rangle, R)$  system of imprimitivity extended from the  $(\lceil \cdot \rangle, R \cap R)$  system (U,F).

$$(K \cap S, K) \qquad (S, B)$$

$$(V, E) \longrightarrow (\overline{V}, \overline{E})$$

$$(\overline{U}, \overline{F})$$

$$(U, F) \longrightarrow (\overline{U}, \overline{F})$$

$$(\Gamma, R).$$

Thus on ( T, R) we have obtained two systems of imprimi-

tivity  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  and  $(\widetilde{U},\overline{F})$ , starting from the same  $(K \cap S, K)$  system (V,E). We now prove, under a mild assumption, that  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  and  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  are equivalent. The assumption is:

Assumption (A): There is a function  $h \in L^2(C,dc)$  such that for all  $y \in Q$ ,  $(\langle \cdot, y \rangle h(\cdot))^{\wedge}$  is non-vanishing  $^{\wedge}_{O}$  a.e. on  $^{\wedge}_{O}$ . In many cases, we can choose the section C in such a way that assumption (A) is satisfied. In the appendix we show that if  $S = \mathbb{R}^n \times L \times D$ , where L is compact and D is discrete, and  $K \cap S = H_1 \times L_1 \times D_1$ , where  $H_1$ ,  $H_1$ ,  $H_2$  are closed subgroups of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $H_2$ ,  $H_3$  respectively, then we can get a Borel section C of  $H_3$  such that assumption  $H_3$  is satisfied.

We can assume, without loss of generality, that F is homogeneous of multiplicity n,  $l \le n \le \infty$ . Let  $\mathcal{E}_{p}$  be the measure class of F. Then (U,F) is equivalent to a concrete system of imprimitivity associated with  $\mathcal{V}$  and a  $(\lceil / \rceil_0, \lceil R / \rceil_0, \lceil U \rceil_0)$  cocycle D relative to  $\mathcal{V}$ . We will show that  $\overline{F}$  is also homogeneous of multiplicity n, with associated measure class  $\mathcal{E}_{p}$  and that the cocycle associated with  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  is cohomologous to the  $(\lceil ,R)$  cocycle D extended from D. For simplicity, we assume that (V,E) is also homogeneous. (The proof for the general case is similar). Let  $\mathcal{E}_{p}$  be the measure class associated with E and A be the  $(K \cap S)$ , K, U(E) cocycle corresponding to (V,E).

We fix h  $\epsilon$  L<sup>2</sup>(C,dc) such that for each y  $\epsilon$  Q (Q is a section of R with respect to  $\Gamma_0$ ), the Fourier coefficients of the function

$$c \longrightarrow \langle y, -c \rangle h(c)$$

is non-vanishing  $\lambda_0$  a.e. on  $\Gamma_0$ . For this h, we define the function f on R by (3.2) and for each g  $\epsilon$  , the functions  $F_g$  on R by (3.3):

$$f(y+\gamma_{o}) = \frac{\Lambda}{h}(y+\gamma_{o}) = \int_{C} \langle y+\gamma_{o}, c \rangle h(c) dc$$

$$F_{g}(y+\gamma_{o}) = f(y+\gamma_{o}) \overline{f(y+\gamma_{o}-g)},$$

$$y \in Q, \gamma_{o} \in C.$$

Let  $h_i \in L^2(K, \mathbb{H}, \mu)$ , i = 1,2. Define  $\overline{h}_i \in L^2(B, \mathbb{H}, \overline{\mu})$  by:

 $\overline{h}_{i}(x+e) = h_{i}(x) h(e)$ ,  $x \in K$ ,  $c \in G$ , i = 1,2.

Let  $g \in \Gamma$ ,  $g = u + \gamma_0$ , where  $u = \langle g \rangle \in Q \cap \Gamma$  and  $\gamma_0 = [g] \in \Gamma_0$ . Define the measures  $\nu_{\overline{u}}^{1,2}$  on  $\Gamma$ 

 $v_{\overline{u}}^{1,2}(X) = (F(X) \chi_{\overline{u}} h_1, h_2), X \text{ a Borel subset}$ 

 $\overline{\nu}_{g}^{1,2}(X') = (\overline{F}(X') \chi_{g} \overline{h}_{1}, \overline{h}_{2}), X' \text{ a Borel}$ subset of R.

where  $\chi_{\bar{u}}$ ,  $\chi_{g}$  are the characters on K and B respectively defined by  $\bar{u}$  and g.

Remarks: 1. The measures  $\nu_{\bar{u}}^{1,2}$  and  $\bar{\nu}_{g}^{1,2}$  are not the translates of the measures  $\nu^{1,2}$  (=  $\nu_{o}^{1,2}$ ) and  $\bar{\nu}^{1,2}$  (=  $\bar{\nu}_{o}^{1,2}$ ).

2. For measures appearing without superscripts, subscripts to them mean their translates.

4.1. Lemma:  $\bar{\nu}_{\rm g}^{1,2}$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\tilde{\nu}_{\rm g}^{1,2}$  and,

$$\frac{d \, \bar{\boldsymbol{\nu}}_{g}^{1,2}}{d \, \boldsymbol{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\nu}}}_{\bar{u}}^{1,2}} = \mathbb{F}_{g} .$$

(Here and in the sequel  $\tilde{v}_{\bar{u}}^{i,j}$  means  $v_{\bar{u}}^{i,j}$ ).

Proof: For tεS,

$$\overline{\nu}_{g}^{1,2}(t) = (\overline{v}_{t} \times_{g} \overline{h}_{1}, \overline{h}_{2})$$

=  $\int \langle (\overline{v}_t \ \chi_g \overline{h}_1)(y)$ ,  $\overline{h}_2(y) \rangle d\overline{\mu}(y)$ , where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the inner product in H.

$$= \int_{B} \langle \overline{A}(t,y) \sqrt{\frac{d\overline{\mu}_{t}}{d\overline{\mu}}}(y) \chi_{g}(y+t) \overline{h}_{1}(y+t) , \overline{h}_{2}(y) \rangle d\overline{\mu}(y)$$

$$= \int_{C} \int_{K} \langle A([t+c],x) \sqrt{\frac{d\mu[t+c]}{d\mu}(x)} \chi_{g}(x+[t+c]).$$

$$\chi_{g}(\langle t+c \rangle) h_{1}(x+[t+c]) h(\langle t+c \rangle), h_{2}(x) h(c) \rangle$$

$$d\mu(x) dc.$$

(by the definition of  $\overline{A}$  and by lemma 3.4)

$$= \int_{C} (V_{[t+c]} \chi_{\overline{u}}^{h_1}, h_2) \chi_{g}(\langle t+c \rangle) h(\langle t+c \rangle) h(c) dc$$

$$= \int_{C} v_{\overline{u}}^{1,2}([t+c]) \chi_{g}(\langle t+c \rangle) h(\langle t+c \rangle) h(c) dc$$

$$= (F_{g} d\tilde{v}_{\overline{u}}^{1,2})^{(t)} (by lemma 3.2).$$

Thus the two measures  $d\vec{\nu}_g^{1,2}$  and  $F_g d\vec{\nu}_{\bar{u}}^{1,2}$  are same, because their Fourier coefficients are same. So

$$\frac{d \bar{\nu}_g^{1,2}}{d \bar{\nu}_{ij}^{1,2}} = F_g .$$

Q. E. D.

4.2. Corollary: Taking g to be the identity in [ , we get

(4.2) 
$$\frac{d\vec{v}^{1,2}}{d\vec{v}^{1,2}}(y+\gamma_{0}) = |f(y+\gamma_{0})|^{2}, \quad y \in Q, \quad \gamma_{0} \in \Gamma_{0}.$$

So by the choice of the function h in  $L^2(C,dc)$  we get that the two measures  $\bar{\nu}^{1,2}$  and  $\tilde{\nu}^{1,2}$  are mutually absolutely continuous.

Since F is homogeneous of multiplicity n, there are n functions  $h_1,\ h_2,\ \cdots,\ h_n\in L^2(K,I\!H,\ \mu)$  such that the following are satisfied.

- (i)  $(V_sh_i, h_j) = 0$  if  $i \neq j$ ,  $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ ,  $s \in K \cap S$ .
- (ii) If  $\nu_{\mathbf{i}}(\cdot) = (F(\cdot)h_{\mathbf{i}}, h_{\mathbf{i}}), 1 \le i \le n$ , then  $\nu_{\mathbf{i}} = \nu_{\mathbf{j}}$  for all i,j,  $1 \le i,j \le n$ . Let  $\nu_{\mathbf{i}} = \nu$ .
- (iii) The closed linear span of  $\{V_sh_i: s \in K \cap S, i=1,2,\dots,n\}$  is  $L^2(K, H, \mu)$ .
- 4.3. Theorem. F is also homogeneous of multiplicity n.

Proof: Consider  $\overline{h}_1$ ,  $\overline{h}_2$ , ...,  $\overline{h}_n \in L^2(B, H, \overline{\mu})$ . Then:

- (1)  $(\overline{V}_{S}\overline{h}_{i}, \overline{h}_{j}) = 0$  if  $i \neq j$ ,  $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ ; ses.
- (2) If the measures  $\bar{\nu}_i$  on R are defined by  $\bar{\nu}_i(\cdot) = (F(\cdot)\bar{h}_i, \bar{h}_i), \text{ then } \bar{\nu}_i = \bar{\nu}_j \text{ for } 1 \leq i, j \leq n.$
- (3) The closed linear span of  $\{\overline{V}_{S}\overline{h}_{i}: s \in S, i=1,2,\cdots,n\}$  is  $L^{2}(B, H, \overline{\mu})$ .
- (1) and (2) are easily proved. To prove (3), let  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{B}, \mathbb{H}, \overline{\mu})$  be such that,

 $(\overline{V}_{S}\overline{h}_{i}, \varphi) = 0$  for all  $s \in S$  and  $i=1,2,\dots,n$ .

We show that  $\phi = 0$ . Now,

$$0 = \int \left\langle \overline{A}(s, x+c) \sqrt{\frac{d\overline{\mu}_{s}}{d\overline{\mu}}}(x+c) \overline{h}_{i}(x+c+s) , \varphi(x+c) \right\rangle d\overline{\mu}(x+c)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} A([s+c],x) \sqrt{\frac{d\mu[s+c]}{d\mu}}(x) h_{i}(x+[s+c]) h(\langle s+c \rangle) ,$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} (v_{s+c}) h_{i}, \varphi_{c} h_{i}(\langle s+c \rangle) dc, \quad \text{where } \varphi_{c}(x) = \varphi(x+c).$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle y, [s+c] \rangle \beta_{i}(y,c) h(\langle s+c \rangle) d\nu(y) dc,$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle y, [s+c] \rangle \beta_{i}(y,c) h(\langle s+c \rangle) d\nu(y) dc,$$

where  $\beta_{\mathbf{i}}(\cdot,c)$  is the derivative of the measure  $(F(\cdot)h_{\mathbf{i}},\phi_{c})$  with respect to  $\boldsymbol{\nu}$  . For each c  $\epsilon$  C, the function  $y \longrightarrow \beta_{\mathbf{i}}(y,c) \text{ is in } L^{1}(^{R}/_{\bigcirc},\boldsymbol{\nu}) \text{ and for } \boldsymbol{\nu} \text{ a.e. } y\epsilon ^{R}/_{\bigcirc},$  the function  $c \longrightarrow \beta_{\mathbf{i}}(y,c) \text{ is in } L^{2}(\text{C,dc}).$  Further, the function  $(y,c) \longrightarrow \beta_{\mathbf{i}}(y,c) \text{ h(<s+c)})$  is in  $L^{1}(^{R}/_{\bigcirc}\times C \text{ , } d\boldsymbol{\nu}\times dc). \text{ Hence by Fubini's theorem,}$ 

$$0 = \int \langle y, [s] \rangle_{\int} \langle y, [\langle s \rangle + c] \rangle \beta_{1}(y,c)h(\langle s+c \rangle) \ dc \ d\nu(y).$$

$$\frac{R}{\Gamma_{0}} \qquad C$$
This is true for all  $s \in S$ . So for  $\nu$  a.e.  $y \in \frac{R}{\Gamma_{0}}$ ,
$$\int \langle y, [\langle s \rangle + c] \rangle \beta_{1}(y,c)h(\langle s+c \rangle) \ dc = 0.$$

For such a  $y \in \mathbb{R}/\Gamma_0$ ,

$$\int_{C} \left\{ \langle y, c \rangle \beta_{\perp}(y, c) \right\} \cdot \left\{ \langle y, -\langle s+c \rangle \rangle \right\} h(\langle s+c \rangle) dc = 0.$$

By the choice of the function h in  $L^2(C,dc)$  and by Proposition 3.3, we get

 $\langle y,c\rangle \; \beta_i(y,c) = 0 \quad \text{for a.e. } c \; \epsilon \; C.$  Sine  $\langle y,c\rangle \neq 0$ ,  $\beta_i(y,c) = 0$  for a.e.  $c \; \epsilon \; C.$  Thus,  $\beta_i(y,c) = 0$ , for  $(\nu \; X \; dc)$  a.e.  $(y,c) \; \epsilon \; R/_{0} \; X \; C$ , and this is true for all  $\; i = 1,2,\cdots,n. \; \; By \; property \; (iii)$  of  $h_1,\; h_2,\; \cdots,\; h_n,\; \; this \; means \; that \; \phi = 0 \; a.e. \; \bar{\mu} \; .$ 

(1), (2) and (3) imply that  $\overline{F}$  is homogeneous of multiplicity n.

Q. E. D.

TF(X)  $h_i = (0, \dots, 0, 1_X, 0, \dots, 0)$ , X a Borel subset of  $R/\lceil_0 (1_X)$ , the indicator function of X, is at the i<sup>th</sup> position). For every Borel subset X of  $R/\lceil_0$  we have:

$$\nu_{\overline{u}}^{i,j}(X) = (F(X)X_{\overline{u}}h_{i}, h_{j}), \quad u \in \Gamma \cap Q$$

$$= (F(X)X_{\overline{u}}h_{i}, F(X)h_{j})$$

$$= (T F(X) T^{-1} T X_{\overline{u}}T^{-1} Th_{i}, T F(X) T^{-1} Th_{j})$$

$$= \int_{X} \langle D(-\overline{u}, y) / \frac{d\nu}{d\nu}(y) (Th_{i})(y-u), (Th_{j})(y) \rangle d\nu(y)$$

$$= \int_{X} d_{i,j}(-\overline{u}, y) / \frac{d\nu}{d\nu}(y) d\nu(y)$$

where  $D(\overline{u},y) = (d_{i,j}(\overline{u},y))$ .

So 
$$d_{ij}(\bar{u},y) = \frac{d\nu^{i,j}}{d\nu}(y) \sqrt{\frac{d\nu}{d\nu}(y)} \quad \nu \text{ a.e. } y \in \mathbb{R}/\Gamma_0$$
.

Similarly, proceeding with  $\overline{h}_1$ ,  $\overline{h}_2$ , ...,  $\overline{h}_n$  we get:

$$\overline{d}_{ij}(g,x) = \frac{d\overline{\nu}_{-g}^{i,j}(x)}{d\overline{\nu}}(x) \sqrt{\frac{d\overline{\nu}}{d\overline{\nu}_{g}}(x)} \qquad \overline{\nu} \text{ a.e. } x \in \mathbb{R},$$

for each  $g \in \Gamma$ , where  $\overline{D}(g,x) = (\overline{d}_{ij}(g,x))$  is the  $(\Gamma, R)$  cocycle corresponding to the  $(\Gamma, R)$  system of imprimivity  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$ . Hence,

PDF compression, OCR, web optimization using a watermarked evaluation copy of CVISION PDFCompresso

$$\begin{split} \overline{d}_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{j}}(g,\mathbf{x}) &= \frac{\mathrm{d}\, \overline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}}_{-\mathbf{g}}^{\,\mathbf{i}\,,\,\mathbf{j}}}{\mathrm{d}\, \overline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}}_{-\mathbf{u}}^{\,\mathbf{i}\,,\,\mathbf{j}}} \cdot \frac{\mathrm{d}\, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}}_{-\mathbf{u}}^{\,\mathbf{i}\,,\,\mathbf{j}}}{\mathrm{d}\, \overline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}}_{-\mathbf{u}}^{\,\mathbf{j}\,,\,\mathbf{j}}} \cdot \frac{\mathrm{d}\, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}}_{-\mathbf{u}}^{\,\mathbf{j}\,,\,\mathbf{j}}}{\mathrm{d}\, \overline{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}_{-\mathbf{j}}^{\,\mathbf{j}\,,\,\,\mathbf{j}}}} \cdot \frac{\mathrm{d}\, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{V}}}_{-\mathbf{j}}^{\,\mathbf{j}\,,\,$$

$$\frac{d\vec{\nu}_g^{i,j}}{d\vec{\nu}_{\bar{u}}^{i,j}}(x) = F_g(x) = f(x) \cdot \overline{f(x-g)}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$
(by Lemma 4.1)

and 
$$\frac{d\vec{v}}{d\vec{v}}(x) = |f(x)|^2$$
 (by corollary 4.2.).

Therefore,

$$\overline{d}_{\mathbf{1}\mathbf{j}}(g,\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\sqrt{\frac{d\overline{\nu}}{d\widetilde{\nu}}}(\mathbf{x})}{\overline{f}(\mathbf{x})} \cdot \frac{\overline{f}(g+\mathbf{x})}{\sqrt{\frac{d\overline{\nu}}{d\widetilde{\nu}}}(g+\mathbf{x})} \cdot \widetilde{d}_{\mathbf{1}\mathbf{j}}(g,\mathbf{x}).$$

or, 
$$\overline{d}_{ij}(g,x) = \rho(x) d_{ij}(g,x) \rho(g+x)^{-1}$$
, where

$$\rho(x) = \frac{\sqrt{\frac{d \vec{v}}{d \vec{v}}(x)}}{\vec{f}(x)} = \frac{\sqrt{|f(x)|^2}}{\vec{f}(x)} = \frac{|\vec{f}(x)|}{\vec{f}(x)},$$

a function of modulus 1, on R.

Hence,  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  and  $\widetilde{\mathbb{D}}$  are cohomologous. Therefore,  $(\overline{\mathbb{U}},\overline{\mathbb{F}})$  and  $(\widetilde{\mathbb{U}},\widetilde{\mathbb{F}})$  are equivalent.

Thus, we have proved, under the assumption A, the following theorem.

- 4.4. Theorem. Let (V,E) be a  $(K \cap S, K)$  system of imprimitivity; (U,F) its dual on  $(\lceil / \rceil, \rceil^R / \rceil)$ . Let  $(\overline{V},\overline{E})$  be the Gamelin system of imprimitivity on (S,B) obtained from (V,E), and  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  be its dual on  $(\lceil ,R)$ . Let  $(\widetilde{U},\widetilde{F})$  be the  $(\lceil ,R)$  system of imprimitivity obtained from the  $(\lceil / \rceil, \rceil, \rceil)$  system (U,F). Then  $(\widetilde{U},\widetilde{F})$  and  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  are equivalent systems of imprimitivity.
- 4.5. Corollary. Every (S,B) system of imprimitivity is equivalent to a Gamelin system of imprimitivity obtained from a  $(K \cap S, K)$  system of imprimitivity.

### 5. The Bohr groups.

In this section, we consider a special class of pairs which appear in the theory of harmonic analysis on compact groups with ordered duals. For these pairs, the assumption (A) is satisfied. We consider them separately because, for these pairs we can get a simple function which establishes the equivalence of the systems of imprimitivity.

A Bohr group B is a compact abelian group whose discrete dual  $\Gamma = \hat{B}$  is a subgroup of the additive group R of real numbers, dense in the usual topology of R. If  $\Gamma$  is countable, then B and  $\Gamma$  are second countable. We consider only those Bohr groups for which  $\hat{B} = \Gamma$ , is countable. The inclusion map from  $\Gamma$  into R is continuous and we get the pair  $(\Gamma, R)$ . Its dual pair is (R, B). The continuous homomorphism from R into B will be denoted by  $t \longrightarrow e_t$ . The elements  $e_t$  in B are identified by the relation

 $\langle e_t, \delta \rangle = \exp(it\delta), t \in \mathbb{R}, \delta \in \Gamma$ .

Let B be a Bohr group with  $\lceil$  countable. Assume, without loss of generality, that  $2\pi \in \lceil$ . Let  $\lceil_0 = \{2\pi \cdot n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  be the subgroup generated by  $2\pi$ . Let K be the annihilator of  $\lceil_0$ . K is a compact subgroup of B. An element  $e_t$  belongs to K if and only if t is an integer. Also  $\{e_t : 0 \le t < 1\}$  is a Borel section of B with respect to K.

 $^{
m IR}/_{
m \Box}$  is the circle group T. We shall regard T as the interval  $[0,2\pi)$  with addition modulo  $2\pi$ . is the dual  $\hat{K}$  of K. Thus, the pair  $( / / / , \mathbb{R} / / / )$  is  $(\mathring{K}$  , T). Its dual pair is (N , K). Thus, the four pairs of groups are  $(\hat{K}, T)$  and  $(\Gamma, R)$ , and, (N, K) and (R, B). A (K, T) cocycle extends to a (T, R) cocycle and in the cohomology class of a ( [ , IR) cocycle, there is a cocycle which is extended from a (K , T) cocycle. Two (K , T) cocycles are cohomologous if and only if the extended ( , R) cocycles are cohomologous. The action of IR on B is quasi-isomorphic to the flow built on K under the constant function 1, with base transformation as translation by e, on K. So by theorem 2.3 of chapter II, every (R, B) cocycle has a strict version.

Every (N, K) cocycle extends to an (R, B) cocycle and in the cohomology class of an (R, B) cocycle, there is one which is extended from an (N, K) cocycle,

Let (V,E) be an (N,K) system of imprimitivity;  $(\overline{V},\overline{E})$  the associated Gamelin system of imprimitivity on  $(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{B})$ . (U,F) is the dual of (V,E) and  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  is the dual of  $(\overline{V},\overline{E})$ . Let  $(\widetilde{U},\widetilde{F})$  be the  $(\lceil ,\mathbb{R})$  system of imprimitivity which is extended from the  $(\widehat{K},T)$  system (U,F). We assume, as before, that F is homogeneous of multiplicity n,  $1 \le n \le \infty$ , with measure class  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{V}}$ . So (U,F) is given by a  $(\widehat{K},T,\underline{U}(\underline{H}_{n}))$  cocycle D. We also assume that (V,E) is homogeneous. Let A be the associated cocycle and  $\mu$  the measure corresponding to (V,E).

Instead of a function h in  $L^2([0,1))$  satisfying assumption (A), we take the function h=1 on [0,1). Then the functions f and  $F_g$  ( $g \in \Gamma$ ) on  $\mathbb{R}$ , defined by (3.2) and (3.3) take the simple form

$$f(x) = \frac{1 - \exp(ix)}{x}$$

$$F_g(x) = \frac{(1 - \exp(ix))(1 - \exp(-i(x-g)))}{x(x-g)}$$
.

When  $g = \emptyset$ , we have

$$F_0(x) = \left(\frac{\sin x/2}{x/2}\right)^2.$$

Theorem 4.2 of chapter II says that when  $\mathcal{V}(\{0\}) = 0$ , then  $\overline{F}$  is homogeneous of multiplicity n. So, when  $\mathcal{V}(\{0\}) = 0$ ,  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  is given by a  $(\lceil ,\mathbb{R},\,\underline{U}(\,\mathbb{H}_{n}))$  cocycle  $\overline{D}$ . Proceeding as in section 4, we can show that  $\overline{D}$  and  $\widehat{D}$  are cohomologous (P) where P is the function on  $\mathbb{R}$  defined by:

$$\rho(x) = \frac{|\overline{f}(x)|}{\overline{f}(x)} = \frac{|1 - \exp(-ix)|}{1 - \exp(-ix)}.$$

If  $\nu(\{0\}) \neq 0$ , then  $\nu$  can be decomposed into two quasi-invariant measures  $\nu_1$  and  $\nu_2$  such that  $\nu_1$ ,  $\nu_2$  are mutually singular and  $\nu_1$  is concentrated on  $\hat{K}$  and is equivalent to the Haar measure on  $\hat{K}$ . All  $(\hat{K}, T)$  cocycles relative to  $\nu_1$  and all (f, R) cocycles relative to  $\tilde{\nu}_1$  are coboundaries. Observe that  $F(\hat{K})$  reduces the system (U, F) and hence it reduces (V, E) also. Let (U', F') be the restriction of (U, F) to  $F(\hat{K})$ , and (V', E') that of (V, E) to  $F(\hat{K})$ . Then (U', F') and (V', E') are duals of each other. Clearly, F' is homo-

geneous of multiplicity n, with measure class  $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{V}_i}$  and hence cocycle of (U',F') is a coboundary. It is easy to see that E' is also homogeneous of multiplicity n, the measure class of E' is the Haar measure class on K and that the cocycle associated with (V',E') is a coboundary. Hence the multiplicity of E' is n with measure class same as the Haar measure class on B and the cocycle of  $(\overline{V}',\overline{E}')$  is a coboundary. It follows that the dual system  $(\overline{U}',\overline{F}')$  of  $(\overline{V}',\overline{E}')$  is of uniform multiplicity n with associated measure class  $G_{\widetilde{V}}$ . Hence the cocycle associated with  $(\overline{U}',\overline{F}')$  is a coboundary. Thus  $(\overline{U}',\overline{F}')$  and  $(\overline{U}',\overline{F}')$  are equivalent.

Thus we have the theorem:

5.1. Theorem. Let (V,E) be an (N,K) system of imprimitivity; (U,F) its dual. Let  $(\overline{V},\overline{E})$  be the Gamelin extension of (V,E) and  $(\overline{U},\overline{F})$  be the dual of  $(\overline{V},\overline{E})$ . Let  $(\overline{U},\widetilde{F})$  be the  $(\overline{\Gamma},R)$  system of imprimitivity extended from the (K,T) system (U,F). Then (U,F) and  $(\overline{U},F)$  are equivalent systems of imprimitivity.

## 6. An example.

Let  $\lceil$  be the following subgroup of  $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\lceil = \left\{ 2\pi m + n : m, n \text{ integers} \right\} . \lceil \text{ is dense in } \mathbb{R}.$   $\lceil \text{ can be identified with } \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} \text{ and its dual } \mathbb{T}^2 \text{ can be written as } \mathbb{T}^2 = [0,1) \times [0,2\pi), \text{ where elements }$   $(x_1,y_1) \text{ and } (x_2,y_2) \text{ are added according to }$ 

$$(x_1,y_1) + (x_2,y_2) = (x_1+x_2 \pmod{1}, y_1+y_2 \pmod{2\pi}).$$

We have:

 $\langle 2\pi m + n , (x,y) \rangle = \exp(2\pi i \cdot mx) \exp(iny),$ 

for  $2\pi m + n \in \Gamma$ , and  $(x,y) \in T^2$ . For  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

 $\langle 2\pi m + n , e_t \rangle = \exp(it(2\pi m + n)).$ 

This describes the pair ( $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathbb{T}^2$ ). The annihilator of the subgroup  $\Gamma_0 = \{2\pi m : m \in \mathbb{N}\}$  is  $K = \{0\} \times [0, 2\pi)$ , and the pair ( $\mathbb{N}$ , K) is described by

$$n \longrightarrow e_n = (0, n(mod 2\pi)).$$

Thus, in this case, (N , K) can be identified with (N , T). Hence, the dual pair  $(\widehat{K}$  , T) can also be identified with (N , T).

Let q be a non-constant inner function on the circle. Let  $\mathbf{A}_{q}$  be the cocycle defined by:

$$A_{q}(n, z) = \begin{cases} q(z)q(z+e_{1}) & \cdots & q(z+e_{n-1}) \\ 1 & , & n = 0 \\ q(z+e_{-1})^{-1} & \cdots & q(z+e_{n})^{-1} \\ \end{cases}, \quad n < 0.$$

Let (V,E) be the system of imprimitivity given by  ${\tt A}_q$  . Let  ${\tt H}_2({\tt T})$  be the Hardy space. Then,

 $\begin{array}{l} \mathbb{V}_1 \ \mathbb{H}_2(\mathbb{T}) = \left\{ \mathbf{q}(\cdot) \ \mathbf{f}(\cdot + \mathbf{e}_1) \ : \ \mathbf{f} \ \mathbf{\epsilon} \ \mathbb{H}_2(\mathbb{T}) \right\} = \mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbb{H}_2(\mathbb{T}) \subseteq \mathbb{H}_2(\mathbb{T}). \\ \text{Let } (\mathbf{f}_1 \ , \ \mathbf{f}_2 \ , \ \cdots) \ (\text{this set may be finite}) \ \text{be a} \\ \text{complete orthonormal system of vectors in } \mathbb{H}_2(\mathbb{T}) \bigodot \mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbb{H}_2(\mathbb{T}). \\ \text{Then the cyclic subspaces } \left\{ \mathbb{V}_n \ \mathbf{f}_i \ : \ n \ \epsilon \ \mathbb{N} \right\} \ , \ i = 1, 2, \cdots \\ \text{are mutually orthogonal, and together span } \mathbb{L}^2(\mathbb{T}). \\ \text{Also, } (\mathbb{V}_n \ \mathbf{f}_i \ , \ \mathbf{f}_i') = \delta_{on} \ \text{ for each i. Thus, if } \mathbb{F} \ \text{is the} \\ \text{spectral measure corresponding to } \mathbb{V}, \ \text{then } \mathbb{F} \ \text{is homogeneous} \\ \text{with multiplicity same as the dimension of } \mathbb{H}_2(\mathbb{T}) \bigodot \mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbb{H}_2(\mathbb{T}), \\ \text{and the measure class associated with } \mathbb{F} \ \text{is the Haar} \\ \text{measure class on } \mathbb{T}. \ \text{Since } (\mathbb{V},\mathbb{E}) \ \text{is irreducible, } (\mathbb{U},\mathbb{F}), \\ \text{the dual system of } (\mathbb{V},\mathbb{E}), \ \text{is an irreducible system of imprimitivity based on } (\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{T}). \\ \end{array}$ 

l) If q has infinitely many zeros in the disc, then  $H_2(T) \bigoplus q \cdot H_2(T)$  is infinite dimensional. So we have an irreducible system of imprimitivity based on (N , T) and acting in  $L^2(T, \ell^2)$ .

2) If  $q(z) = \exp(ipz)$ , p a positive integer, then  $H_2(T) \bigoplus q \cdot H_2(T)$  is p-dimensional. In this case we shall calculate the cocycle D associated with (U,F).

For each k,  $0 \le k \le p-1$ , let  $h_k$  be the function  $h_k(z) = \exp(ikz)$ ,  $z \in T$ . Then  $h_0$ ,  $h_1$ , ...,  $h_{p-1}$  have the properties:

(i) 
$$(V_n h_i, h_j) = 0$$
, if  $i \neq j$ ,  $i, j = 0, 1, 2, \dots, p-1$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

- (ii) For each  $i = 0,1,\dots,p-1$ ,  $(F(\cdot)h_i, h_i)$  is the Haar measure on T.
- (iii) The closed linear span of  $\{V_nh_i: i=0,1,\cdots,p-1, n\epsilon N\}$  is  $L^2(T)$ .

So, let S be the isometric isomorphism from  $L^2(T)$  onto  $L^2(T, \mathbb{C}^p)$  defined by:

$$S F(X) h_k = (0,0,\dots,0,1_X,0,\dots,0)$$
,

( $l_{\mathbf{X}}$  appears at the  $(k+1)^{th}$  position), where **X** is a Borel subset of **T**;  $k = 0,1,\dots,p-1$ . Then,

$$S(V_n h_k) = (0, \dots, 0, exp(inz), 0, \dots, 0), k=0,1,\dots,p-1.$$

We have,

$$(U_n h)(z) = \exp(inz)h(z)$$
,  $h \in L^2(T)$ , and

 $(S U_n S^{-1} \tilde{h})(z) = D(n,z) \tilde{h}(z+e_n)$ ,  $\tilde{h} \in L^2(T, \mathbb{C}^p)$ . Hence, taking  $\tilde{h}$  to be  $(1,0,\dots,0)$ ,  $(0,1,0,\dots,0)$ , ...,  $(0,0,\dots,0,1)$  we get,

$$D(1,z) = \begin{bmatrix} 0, 0, \cdots & 0, \exp(iz) \\ 1, 0, \cdots & 0, 0 \\ & \ddots & \ddots \\ & \ddots & \ddots \\ 0, 0, \cdots & 1, 0 \end{bmatrix}, z \in T.$$

The cocycle  $\mathbb D$  can be written in terms of  $\mathbb D(1,z)$ . Thus, in this case we can calculate all the four cocycles.

Remark: The above example is the completion of an example given in Bagchi [3]. Bagchi uses the example to exhibit an (N, T) irreducible system of imprimitivity acting in  $L^2(T, \mathbb{C}^p)$  where p is any positive integer. However, he does not calculate the dual cocycle. [16] contains a construction, due to A. M. Gleason, of an (N, T) cocycle having values in 2×2 unitary matrices giving rise to irreducible systems of imprimitivity of dimension 2. In [20] Muhly uses Gleason's example together with Gamelin's method of obtaining an (TR, B) cocycle, to exhibit an irreducible (TR, B) system of imprimitivity of sultiplicity 2.

#### APPENDIX

In this appendix, we show that in many cases, assumption (A) is satisfied.

I. If  $G = \mathbb{R}$ , the real line, then any closed subgroup H of G is a cyclic group and so, without loss of generality, we can assume that  $H = \mathbb{N}$ , the integer group. Take C = [0,1) for a section of G with respect to H, and define f on C by:

$$f(x) = exr(x)$$
,  $0 \le x < 1$ .

For any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\hat{f}(t) = . \int_{0}^{1} e^{itx} e^{x} dx = \frac{e^{it+1} - 1}{it+1} \neq 0.$$

So, the above choice of C and f satisfies assumption (A).

II. Suppose G is a locally compact second countable abelian group and H is an open subgroup of G. Then  $^G\!\!/_H$  is discrete. Let C be any section of G with respect to H such that C contains the identity e of G. Define f on C by:

$$f(e) = 1$$
,  
 $f(c) = 0$ , if  $c \neq e$ ,  $c \in C$ .

Then, for  $\gamma \in \hat{G}$ ,

$$\hat{f}(\gamma) = \int_{C} \langle \gamma, c \rangle f(c) dc = 1.$$

III. Let  $H_1$  and  $H_2$  be closed subgroups of locally compact second countable abelian groups  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  respectively. Suppose that we can get a Borel section  $C_1$  of  $G_1$  with respect to  $H_1$ , and a function  $f_1$  on  $C_1$  satisfying assumption (A). Similarly, suppose  $C_2$ ,  $f_2$  can be found satisfying assumption (A) for  $G_2$  and  $H_2$ . Then  $C = C_1 \times C_2$  is a Borel section of  $G_1 \times G_2$  with respect to  $H_1 \times H_2$ , and the function f on C defined by:

 $f(c_1,c_2) = f_1(c_1) \cdot f_2(c_2) , c_1 \in C_1, c_2 \in C_2 ,$  satisfies assumption (A).

IV. Take  $G=\mathbb{R}^n$  and let H be a closed subgroup of G of the form  $\mathbb{R}^m\times\mathbb{N}^k$ ,  $0\le m,k\le n$ ,  $m+k\le n$ . Then by I, II and III, we can get a Borel section C of G with respect to H and a Borel function f on C satisfying assumption (A). By theorem 9.11 of [15] we can, without loss of generality, take any closed subgroup H of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  to be of the form  $\mathbb{R}^m\times\mathbb{N}^k$ ,  $0\le m,k\le n$ ,  $m+k\le n$ . Thus, assumption (A) is valid if  $G=\mathbb{R}^n$  and H is any closed subgroup of G.

V. Let G be a compact second countable abelian group and H a closed subgroup of G. Then the assumption (A) holds for G and H. This follows from the following more general lemma.

Lemma. Let  $\nu$  be a finite measure on a compact group G. Then there is a continuous function f on G such that  $(f d\nu)^{\Lambda}$  is always non-zero.

Proof: Let 
$$A = [0,1] \times [0, \frac{1}{2}] \times [0, \frac{1}{2}] \times \cdots$$

and give A the product topology. Let  $\hat{G} = \{ \gamma_0, \gamma_1, \gamma_2, \cdots \}, \gamma_0$  being the identity in G. Put,

$$M_{0} = \left\{ \tilde{\mathbf{a}} = (\mathbf{a}_{0}, \mathbf{a}_{1}, \mathbf{a}_{2}, \cdots) \in \Lambda : \sum_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{i}} \hat{\boldsymbol{\nu}}(\gamma_{\mathbf{i}}) = 0 \right\}$$

$$M_{1} = \left\{ \tilde{\mathbf{a}} \in \Lambda : \sum_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{i}} \hat{\boldsymbol{\nu}}(\gamma_{\mathbf{i}} + \gamma_{1}) = 0 \right\}$$

$$\mathbb{M}_{n} = \left\{ \tilde{\mathbf{a}} \in \mathbb{A} : \sum_{i} \mathbf{a}_{i} \hat{\boldsymbol{\nu}} \left( \gamma_{i} + \gamma_{n} \right) = 0 \right\}$$

It is easy to see that each  $\mathbb{M}_n$  is closed, nowhere dense subset of A. Hence, by Baire category theorem,  $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{M}_n \neq A$ . Let  $\widetilde{a} = (a_0, a_1, a_2, \cdots)$   $\epsilon$  A be such that  $\widetilde{a} \notin \mathbb{M}_n$  for any n,

and take  $f(\cdot) = \sum_{i} a_{i} \langle \cdot, \gamma_{i} \rangle$ . Then f is a continuous function on G and for each  $\gamma \in G$ ,

$$(f d \nu)^{\hat{}}(\gamma) = \sum_{i} a_{i} \hat{\nu}(\gamma_{i} + \gamma) \neq 0.$$

). E. D.

VI. Let  $G = \mathbb{R}^n \times K \times D$ , where K is a compact second countable abelian group and D is a discrete abelian group. Let H be a closed subgroup of G of the form  $H_1 \times K_1 \times D_1$  where  $H_1$ ,  $K_1$ ,  $D_1$  are closed subgroups of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , K, D respectively. Then by the above steps, we can get a Borel section C of G with respect to H and a Borel function f on C such that,

$$\hat{f}(\gamma) = \int \langle \gamma, c \rangle f(c) dc \neq 0$$
, for all  $\gamma \in \hat{G}$ .

#### REFERENCES

- [1] W. Ambrose, Representation of ergodic flows, Ann. Math. 42 (1941), 723-739.
- [2] W. Ambrose and S. Kakutani, Structure and continuity of measurable flows, Duke Math. J. 9(1942), 25-42.
- [3] S. C. Bagchi, Invariant subspaces of vector valued function spaces on Bohr groups, thesis submitted to the Indian Statistical Institute (1973).
- [4] S.C. Bagchi, Joseph Mathew and M.G. Nadkarni, On systems of imprimitivity on locally compact abelian groups with dense actions, (to appear in Acta Math.).
- [5] S. G. Dani, Kolmogorov automorphisms on homogeneous spaces, (to appear).
- [6] K. de Leeuw and I. Glicksberg, Quasi-invariance and analyticity of measures on compact groups, Acta Math. 109 (1963), 179-205.
- [7] T. W. Gamelin, Remarks on compact groups with ordered duals, Rev. U. Mat. Arg. 23 (1967), 97-108.
- [8] T. W. Gamelin, Uniform Algebras, Prentice Hall, 1969.
- [9] P. R. Halmos, <u>Introduction to the theory of Hilbert</u>

  Space and Spectral Multiplicity, Chelsea Publ.,

  Second Edition.

- [10] H. Helson, Compact groups with ordered duals,
  I. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 14A(1965), 144-156.
  II. J. London Math. Soc. (2) 1(1969), 237-242.
- [11] H. Helson, Structure of Blaschke cocycles, Studia Mathematica, Tom. XLIV, Fasc. 5(1972), 493-500.
- [12] H. Helson, Analyticity on compact abelian groups,
  London Math. Soc. lecture notes.
- [13] H. Helson and J.-P. Kahane, Compact groups with ordered duals III, J. London Math. Soc. (2), 4(1972), 573-575.
- [14] H. Helson and D. Lowdenslager, Invariant subspaces, Proc. Internat. Symp. Linear Spaces, Jerusalem, 1960, 251-262.
- [15] E. Hewitt and K. A. Ross, <u>Abstract Harmonic Analysis</u>, vol I, Springer, Berlin (1963).
- [16] A. A. Kirilov, Dynamical systems, factors and representations of groups, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk. 22, 5(1967), 67-80; Russ. Math. Surveys 22:5(1967), 63-75.
- [17] G. W. Mackey, On a theorem of Stone and von Neumann, Duke Math. J. 16(1949), 313-325.
- [18] G. W. Mackey, Borel structure in groups and their duals, Trans. of the Am. Math. Soc. 85(1957), 134-165.

- [19] G. W. Mackey, Ergodic theory and virtual groups,
  Math. Ann. 166 (1966), 187-207.
- [20] Paul S. Muhly, A structure theory for isometric representations of a class of semigroups,

  Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik,

  Band 255(1972), 135-154.
- [21] V. A. Rokhlin, Selected topics from the metric theory of dynamical systems, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Series 2, vol. 49 (1966), 171-241; Uspekhi Mat. Nauk. (N.S) 4 (1949), no. 2(30), 57-128.
- [22] W. Rudin, <u>Fourier Analysis on Groups</u>, Interscience,
- [23] M. H. Stone, Linear transformations in Hilbert Space III, operational methods and group theory, Proc. National Academy of Sciences (U.S.A.), vol. 16 (1930), 172-175.
- [24] V. S. Varadarajan, Geometry of Quantum Theory, vol 2, van Nostrand Reinhold Co., 1970.
- [25] K. Yale, Invariant subspaces and projective representations, Pacific J. Math. 36(1971), 557-565.